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Andrew Kickett, Brothaboy, Midland
Finalists and winners of the 2015 WA Regional Small
Business Awards

Jude Daley, Pareto Law Australia, Bibra Lake

Attendees at the Career Expo, Migrant Resource Centre,
Mirrabooka

Tony Ivory, Back and Neck Bedding Company,
Myaree and Osborne Park

Members of the WA Chinese Chamber of Commerce

Craig Hepburn, HobbyTech Toys, O’Connor
Karen Twort, former business owner, Duncraig
Sarah Cordiner, MainTraining Pty Ltd, Perth
Yown Khuong (YK) On and Chia Ling Choong,
Crescendo Music, Myaree
and:
Hon. Sean L’Estrange MLA, Minister for Small Business
Kate Carnell AO, Australian Small Business and Family
Enterprise Ombudsman
Michael Hayden, Maarli Pty Ltd
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Winners of AUSUM competition, Mandurah Baptist College
Learn@Lunchtime attendees

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Contents
Statement of compliance
for the year ended 30 June 2016

4

Overview of agency

5

About the SBDC

5

What is small business?

6

Executive summary

8

Chair’s report

8

Disclosures and legal compliance

54

Independent auditor’s report

54

Certification of key performance indicators

58

Key performance indicators

59

	Certification of financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2016

63

Other legal requirements

110

Government policy requirements

113

Operational structure

10

Outcome-based management framework

13

Significant issues impacting the agency

114

Agency performance

14

Appendix

115

Financial targets

14

Summary of client perceptions

15

Chief Executive Officer’s report

16

Activity reports

18

Stakeholder representation and collaboration

115

Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

3

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Statement of compliance for the year ended 30 June 2016
HON. SEAN L’ESTRANGE MLA
MINISTER FOR SMALL BUSINESS
In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management
Act 2006, we hereby submit for your information and
presentation to Parliament, the annual report of the
Small Business Development Corporation for the
financial year ended 30 June 2016.
The annual report has been prepared in accordance with
the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006.

Caterina (Kitty) Prodonovich
Chair
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The SBDC welcomed the first Australian Small
Business and Family Enterprise Ombudsman
Kate Carnell AO. Pictured here with Small Business
Commissioner David Eaton, SBDC Board Chair
Kitty Prodonovich and Minister for Small Business,
Hon. Sean L’Estrange MLA.
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Overview of agency
About the SBDC
The Small Business Development Corporation (SBDC) is an
independent statutory authority, established in 1984 under
the Small Business Development Corporation Act 1983.

What we do
Hon Sean
L’Estrange MLA
MEdLeadership;
GradDipResourceMan;
GradDipMan
Minister for
Small Business

The primary role of the SBDC is to encourage, promote,
facilitate and assist the establishment, growth and
development of small business in Western Australia (WA).

Responsible Minister
As at 30 June 2016, the Hon. Sean L’Estrange MLA, Minister
for Small Business, has responsibility for the Small Business
Development Corporation.

Enabling legislation
The Small Business Development Corporation Act 1983
(SBDC Act) makes provision for the establishment of the
Small Business Development Corporation and Small
Business Commissioner.

This is achieved by providing advice and guidance, and
business skill development programs, to small business
owners. The SBDC also offers an alternative dispute resolution
(ADR) service in relation to small business disputes.

Our vision

The SBDC works directly with small business operators and
liaises with industry and business associations to exchange
information and provide support and assistance to their
members. The SBDC also provides advice and support to the
Minister for Small Business on matters impacting the sector,
including the effect of government policy and legislation on
small business. Through these avenues, the SBDC helps to
raise public awareness of the importance of small business
to the economy and community.

Our mission

The SBDC maintains an information centre with a
comprehensive range of business resources and delivers
workshops for existing and potential small business operators.

A strong and enterprising small business sector in
Western Australia.

To deliver and facilitate relevant, practical support to small
businesses and to foster the development of policy conducive
to the growth of a thriving sector.

Our values
Enterprise - valuing a culture of enterprise and innovation
within the community.
Focus - acting with courage, discipline and clarity of purpose.
Independence - acting in the best interests of the small
business sector.
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Overview of agency continued. . .

Fairness - valuing an environment where small business
can thrive.
Collaboration - actively engaging with others to achieve our
mutual objectives.

Our strategic objectives
In accordance with its 2013-2017 Strategic Plan, the SBDC
strives to:
•	offer continually improving practical and relevant services
across Western Australia;
•

model contemporary service delivery;

•	build strong engagement with, and commitment from,
all key stakeholder groups;
•	advocate for a fair, conducive and productive environment
for small business;
•

develop its organisational capacity and capability; and

•	ensure the best return on government funds invested in
the development of the sector.

6

Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

What is small business?
The SBDC Act defines a ‘small business’ as a business
undertaking which is wholly owned and operated by an
individual person, persons in partnership, or by a proprietary
company within the meaning of the Corporations Act 2001
(Cth) and which:
(i)	has a relatively small share of the market in which it
competes;
(ii)	is managed personally by the owner or owners or
directors, as the case requires; and
(iii)	is not a subsidiary of, or does not form part of, a larger
business or enterprise.
The SBDC uses the standard Australian Bureau of
Statistics (ABS) definition of small business, which is
any non-employing business or a business employing
fewer than 20 staff.
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Overview of agency continued. . .

Small business statistics
There are 214,197 actively trading small businesses in WA
(as at June 2015), which represents 96.9 per cent of all
businesses in the State. The proportion of WA businesses in
each size category is illustrated in the chart below:

Large 0.2%
Medium 2.9%
9.7%

97%
of all
businesses
classified
as small

25.3%

61.9%

Small (5-19 Staff )

As at June 2015, the industries with the largest number of
small businesses in WA (in descending order) are:
•

Construction (40,502 or 18.9%);

•	Professional, scientific and technical services
(25,472 or 11.9%);
•

Rental, hiring and real estate services (23,401 or 10.9%);

•

Financial and insurance services (19,494 or 9.1%); and

•

Agriculture, forestry and fishing (17,051 or 8.0%).

(ABS Cat. No. 8165.0 – Counts of Australian Businesses, including
Entries and Exits, June 2011 to June 2015)

Micro (1-4 Staff )

Non employing
Majority of start-ups
are sole traders

Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

7

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Executive summary
Chair’s report
In reflecting on the past year for the SBDC, it is clear that
it has been a period to focus on our six core operational areas.
I am pleased to say that, despite working within tight
financial and human resources constraints, the agency has
continued to offer its services efficiently and effectively.
This has been possible as a result of looking at new service
delivery methods, increasing stakeholder engagement and
employing technology to make the best use of our resources.
The first of July 2015 saw the launch of the Business Local
service, a new way of delivering support, advice and guidance
to small businesses throughout WA. The results from its first
year of operation are covered in more detail later in this
report; however the most positive outcome from the Board’s
point of view is the significant increase in the number of
business advisers ‘on the ground’ and the big reduction in
administration costs. During 2015-16 only 10 per cent
of funding was spent on administration, meaning that
90 per cent of government funds went on direct service
delivery – a great result.
The policy and advocacy team continued to offer advice
and information, and to prepare submissions for all tiers
of government, ensuring the concerns of small business
were adequately represented. The SBDC is able to make
informed contributions to policy discussions as a result of
strong stakeholder engagement, and the fact that they are
talking to small business owners every day. The policy team
covered many issues during the past year, including disruptive
technologies, changes to taxi regulations, reducing red
8
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tape, unfair contract terms and subcontractor issues in the
construction industry.
I am also pleased to report that the year saw record
attendances for the business skills workshops, with Saturdays
proving particularly popular. This clearly demonstrates to the
Board that the content is not only highly regarded, but there
is also strong demand from the small business sector to be
informed and prepared – this is a very encouraging sign.
The strategic and operational focus of the SBDC remains
unchanged – to encourage, facilitate and assist the
establishment, growth and development of small business
in Western Australia. With the support of an engaged Board
made up of current and former small business owners, I am
confident that the agency will continue to have a positive
impact as we move into 2016-17. I would like to acknowledge
and thank all our Board members for their contribution and
commitment, and above all, for being passionate advocates
of the small business sector.
I would also like to recognise and show my appreciation of
the incredibly dedicated and hardworking team at the SBDC.
Led by Small Business Commissioner Mr David Eaton, the
SBDC staff continue to service the sector at the highest level
and make a positive contribution in so many ways.

Kitty Prodonovich
Chair
SBDC Board

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

Year in review

2015-16

$96.9
million

of
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WA economy provided
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150

workshops and information sessions delivered

94%
of clients would use
SBDC’s services again

$
$15million $
$
Almost

in disputes finalised by alternative
dispute resolution service

53,300
clients assisted

33
organisations

partnered with through
Industry Link
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Executive summary continued. . .

Operational structure
SBDC Board
The Small Business Development Corporation is governed by
an independent Board, drawn from the private sector under
the auspices of the Small Business Development Corporation
Act 1983.
Membership as at 30 June 2016
• Kitty Prodonovich (Chair)
• Susan Bailey
• Steven Dobson
• Nicolle Jenkins
• Anthony Masi
• Allan Pendal
• Ra Stewart
• David Eaton (ex officio)

dispute resolution;
business migration;
policy, advocacy and advice to government; and
the Business Local service.

Small business advisory services
The SBDC’s core service is the delivery of advice and guidance
to existing and prospective small business operators to aid
the development and growth of the sector in WA. These
services are provided online, through face-to-face meetings,
by phone and email. General information is also distributed
through third parties and the media.
Walk-in clients can access services at the SBDC’s business
information centre and business skills workshops are
delivered across a range of topics. (See page 22 for details of
2015-16 achievements.)

(For Board members’ biographies see page 45).

Commercial tenancy advisory service

Small Business Commissioner

The SBDC provides free information and guidance to tenants
and landlords on the Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops)
Agreements Act 1985 and other aspects of commercial leasing,
with specialist commercial tenancy advisers assisting in
person or by phone and email.

David Eaton is the Western Australian Small Business
Commissioner and Chief Executive Officer of the SBDC.
This dual role, reporting to the Board, is responsible for the
day-to-day operation of the SBDC and the provision of the
small business alternative dispute resolution (ADR) service.
The key services of the SBDC are:
• small business advisory;
• commercial tenancy advisory;
10
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The service is supported with publications providing detailed
information on commercial tenancy matters which are
available to download from the SBDC website. (See page 23
for details of 2015-16 achievements.)
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Executive summary continued. . .

Alternative dispute resolution (ADR) service

Business Local service

The ADR service is a low-cost, non-litigious means of
resolving business-to-business and business-to-government
disputes involving small businesses. Clients have found the
service to be particularly useful to resolve retail tenancy
disputes. The SBDC is the first port of call for small business
owners who find themselves in dispute with another
business or government agency. (See page 25 for details
of 2015-16 achievements.)

Launched on 1 July 2015, the Business Local service replaced
the former Small Business Centre program. Business Local
provides outreach business advisory services on behalf of
the SBDC. Managed by seven providers across 12 designated
regions, services are delivered in ways that best suit the needs
of local small business owners. In metropolitan areas this
could involve clients visiting the local providers’ office, while
in regional areas advice may be delivered through site visits,
face-to-face meetings, telephone or email. (See page 35 for
details of 2015-16 achievements.)

Business Migration program
The WA Business Migration program, managed by the SBDC,
is a key investment attraction initiative for the State. Business
migrants provide a significant source of new capital, export
income and employment by establishing new businesses or
purchasing existing enterprises. (See page 29 for details of
2015-16 achievements.)

Policy, advocacy and advice to government
The SBDC ensures the small business voice is heard and
considered by governments at all levels, through submissions,
representation and liaison. The agency has a significant
influence on policy development related to small business,
particularly in relation to reducing the impact of red tape.
The SBDC conducts regular surveys to gauge the sentiment of
the sector and to inform government of trends and concerns.
(See page 36 for details of 2015-16 achievements.)
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Executive summary continued. . .

Organisational structure
Small Business
Development Corporation
Board of Management
Small Business Commissioner/
Chief Executive Officer

Policy and Advocacy
Policy evaluation and advice
Advocacy
Regulatory reform
Research and statistics
Business and government liaison

12
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Communications
and Marketing
Marketing and promotion
Communications
Media
Stakeholder liaison
Events

Small Business Services
Advisory services
Alternative dispute resolution
Business infomation and programs
Business migration
Business Local service
Aboriginal Business Directory WA
Industry Link program

Corporate Resources
Financial resources
Human resources
Infomation resources
Online resources
Administrative support
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Executive summary continued. . .

Outcome-based management framework
Government goal: Financial and economic responsibility – responsibly managing the State’s finances through the efficient and
effective delivery of services, encouraging economic activity and reducing regulatory burdens on the private sector.
Desired outcome

Effectiveness indicators

Service

Efficiency indicators

Development of new and
existing small business in
Western Australia.

The extent to which clients
rate the usefulness of the
information and guidance
provided to them.

Information, guidance,
referral and business
development services.

•	Average cost per direct
client contact.
•	Average cost per indirect
client contact.
•	Average cost per
Business Local service
client contact.
•	Cost per unit of
policy advice.

Changes to the outcome-based management framework
The framework did not change during the reporting period.

Shared responsibility with other agencies
The SBDC did not share any responsibilities with other agencies during 2015-16.
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Agency performance
Financial targets
2015-16 1
Target
$’000
13,796

2015-16
Actual
$’000
12,315

Net cost of services
(sourced from Statement of
Comprehensive Income).
Total equity
(sourced from Statement of
Financial Position).

13,514

11,738

1,776

425

1,993

1,568

Net (decrease)/increase
in cash held
(sourced from Statement of
Cash Flows).
Approved full-time
equivalent (FTE)
staff level.

(266)

441

707

55

51

4

Total cost of services
(expense limit)
(sourced from Statement of
Comprehensive Income).

1
2

14

Variation 2
Explanation
$’000
1,481

The variance relates mainly to the discontinuation
of the Regional Buy Local Initiatives Stage 3
(reduction of $1million), together with reduced
salary and associated staffing costs due to
staff leave (unpaid) and the Public Sector
recruitment freeze.
Added to the reduction in total cost of services
noted above is higher than expected revenue from
miscellaneous income and bank interest.
The 2015-16 budget statements forecast minor
deficits in both 2014/15 and 2015/16, however the
resultant surpluses in both of these periods have
combined to increase the Total Equity position
relative to the 2015/16 target.
The increase in cash held is due to reduced
program and salary expense combined
with additional revenue received in the
reporting period.
Reduced FTE generally relates to delays in filling
positions due to the Public Sector recruitment
freeze together with staff leave (unpaid).

As specified in the 2015-16 Budget Statements (Budget Paper No 2 Volume 2) Pages 745-751
Further explanations are also contained in Note 34 “Explanatory Statement” to the financial statements.
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Agency performance continued. . .

Summary of client perceptions
In addition to the audited key performance indicators (KPIs),
the SBDC measures its performance through client surveys to
determine the:
•

The SBDC achieved an overall customer service index rating
of 90 per cent. The index measures the extent to which the
SBDC and Business Local service satisfies customer enquiries
and requests for assistance. It is comprised of five individual
performance indicators.

usefulness of information and guidance provided;

•	contribution the service made to an informed decision
to start or buy a business;
•	extent the information or guidance benefited the
operations of the business; and
•	value to businesses of the guidance
or information received.
In line with previous years, very high levels of satisfaction
were achieved during 2015-16.
•	92 per cent of survey participants rated the information/
guidance provided as very or somewhat useful.
•	80 per cent believed support provided by the Business
Local service had directly contributed to their decision to
start or buy a business.
•	76 per cent of business owners said the information or
advice had benefited the operations of their business.
•	81 per cent of those surveyed said they valued the
information or guidance received.

Likely to use
service again

94%

Satisfied with overall
SBDC experience

94%

Information and advice
was of benefit
to their business

76%

Information and
advice was useful

92%
0

20

40

60

80

100

Telephone surveys were undertaken with a random selection of clients who had
directly sought information and guidance during 2015-16. 720 client surveys
were completed, giving a maximum standard error ratio of + / – 3.5% at the 95%
confidence level. 89% of clients contacted agreed to participate in the survey.
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Agency performance continued. . .

Chief Executive Officer’s report
Throughout the world, small business is an essential element
of thriving economies; bringing diversity, innovation and,
crucially, employment.
Small business is particularly important in Western Australia
as our economy moves on from a period dominated by the
construction phase of the resources boom. It is the innovative
spirit of small business owners that will keep us on the road
to future success and economic resilience. However, it is
important to note that the small business sector already
makes a very significant contribution to our State, providing
almost half of all private sector employment and boosting the
economy by around $44 billion every year.
Starting and running your own business is not for the
faint-hearted. It takes time, tenacity and resilience to meet
the daily challenges and to take advantage of the significant
opportunities of being your own boss. It is important to note
that today’s entrepreneurs are entering a particularly complex
marketplace and dealing with well-informed customers with
high expectations. They are also facing increased competition
from companies across the globe, all of whom are chasing
the same customers.
The advent of digital disruption across a range of sectors,
particularly in markets previously thought of as ‘safe’, is
bringing its own set of unique challenges and opportunities.
While some long established businesses are feeling under
16
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threat, other more entrepreneurial operators are adapting
their business models to benefit from these changes.
The rapid evolution of consumer expectations and methods
of business operation are also challenging government
regulators. However, it is pleasing to report the increased
focus on these challenges by the regulators, and their
willingness to frequently engage with the SBDC on matters
affecting the small business sector.
It is within this dynamic and complex environment that the
SBDC continues to provide essential services to small business
owners. Even the most innovative, tech-savvy entrepreneurs
still need to understand the fundamental business principles
underpinning their plans to establish, run and grow their
enterprises. For more than 30 years the SBDC has been
providing sound information and advice to all types of small
business owners and operators, so they are better placed
to make well informed decisions and, as a consequence,
be more likely to succeed.
As the needs of the small business evolve, it’s important for
us to also review our services and how they are delivered.
This year we launched the Business Local service, extending
our information and advisory services through a network of
providers across all metropolitan and regional areas of the
State. The small business community has responded positively
to this new initiative, and I am very encouraged by the results
achieved during its first year of operation; including the
additional $96.9 million in economic activity.
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Agency performance continued. . .

We have extended the reach of our workshops by offering
regular Saturday morning sessions of the very well-attended
Business Basics and expanded the ‘digital literacy’ suite.
We have also partnered with more than 30 business and
industry associations through our Industry Link program to
deliver information sessions to their members. This program is
well positioned to grow even further in 2016-17.
Changing times lead to additional demands on our staff,
and I’m delighted to report that they have more than met
the challenge in 2015-16, with significant outcomes being
achieved. This commitment is reflected in our customer
survey results, which highlight the fact that 94 per cent of
clients say they would use our services again.
I would like to thank the members of the SBDC Board for
their support throughout the year as we focus on our mission
to deliver relevant and practical support to small business.
I also acknowledge the huge contribution made by the
entrepreneurs of WA and the vital role they play in ensuring
our economy remains healthy and diversified, and continues
to thrive.

David Eaton with visitors at the Migrant Resource Centre
careers exhibition, Mirrabooka

David Eaton
Small Business Commissioner
Chief Executive Officer
Small Business Development Corporation
Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16
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Agency performance continued. . .

How clients engaged with the SBDC
(excluding Business Local)
Industry Link 10%

Business
advice 72%

Workshops
18%

Activity reports
Services to small business

This year SBDC responded to client enquiries via telephone,
email and face-to-face meetings. The agency continued to
provide specialist services in the areas of alternative dispute
resolution (ADR), business migration and commercial tenancy,
and delivered a range of workshops.
Channels of communication in assisting clients
(excluding Business Local)
Workshops 21%

Email 23%

Face-to-face
meetings 12%

Telephone
44%

I arrived in Australia
in early 2012 from the
UK, and although not
new to business, I had
no idea how business
worked here and was
overwhelmed trying to
understand the laws,
regulations, processes
and where to begin.

The SBDC provides free, confidential and independent
business-related information, advice and guidance to
the small business sector in WA. In 2015-16 the SBDC
focussed on assisting small business start-ups in the
metropolitan area.

Fifty five per cent of enquiries were received from
pre-start or new business owners seeking information
and advisory support.
Following its launch in July 2015, the SBDC also supported
the new Business Local service to provide business advice to
small business operators across the State. The SBDC, working
directly with clients, and through Business Local, met the
needs of clients across all stages of the business life-cycle from
pre-start, development and growth, through to succession
planning and exit strategies.

After attending one of the SBDC’s Business Basics
workshops I felt like I had a clear direction. Since
then, MainTraining has gone on to educate
thousands of Australians, and internationally
we have over 3,820 students in more than 120
countries. We are also leading a revolution in
Australian vocational training with our virtual reality
curriculum design.
The success of my company comes down to many
factors, but getting a jumpstart from the SBDC
definitely helped significantly.

Outcomes for 2015-16
Excluding Business Local, the SBDC directly assisted 19,834
clients, covering 24,673 business topics.
18
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Sarah Cordiner
MainTraining Pty Ltd, Perth
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Agency performance continued. . .

Business information centre

Business Licence Finder

The business information centre (BIC) is the entry point
for small business services provided by the SBDC. The BIC
provides business and licensing information, and online
resources to assist clients in starting or growing a business.

During the year, 6,555 clients sought licensing and regulatory
information using the online Business Licence Finder; a
five per cent decrease on 2014-15. It is anticipated that this
decline will be reversed following enhancements and a
planned relaunch of the service in 2016-17. Geographically,
most requests for information came from the City of Perth (in
the inner metro area) and the Shire of Serpentine-Jarrahdale
(in outer metro areas).

Information available at the BIC includes a range of free
business guides and checklists on starting, developing and
managing a small business. Staff in the centre coordinate the
agency’s business skills workshops, welcome clients attending
advisory appointments and assist them in using the online
Business Licence Finder and IBISWorld database.
An additional service was
introduced in October with the
launch of Learn@Lunchtime;
half-hour workshops for clients
seeking further information
on a specific topic during their
lunch break. Session topics
included turnover, profit
and cash flow, tips to finding
customers, getting started
online and importing.

The most popular topics searched for were:
•

Business Name Registration

Outcomes for 2015-16

•

Australian Business Number

Clients were assisted with more than 10,000 searches
using IBISWorld and in accessing 330 benchmarking
reports. IBISWorld provides free access to market research
reports on more than 500 industries across Australia,
while the benchmarking reports allow clients to compare
industry standards.

•

Music rights

6,555
clients used the online
Business Licence
Finder

Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

19

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Agency performance continued. . .

Workshops

More than 3,200 people attended
business skills workshops during the year.

The SBDC delivered 114 workshops to 3,212 participants
during 2015-16. The workshops delivered were ‘Business
Basics’, ‘Website Basics’, ‘Understanding your Business
Financials’, ‘Spreading the Word – Marketing your Business’,
‘The 12 Step Business Plan’, and ‘Online Marketing – doing it
yourself’. This represents a six per cent increase in the number
of workshops delivered and a 15 per cent increase in the
number of attendees compared to the previous year.
The popularity of the Business Basics workshop has led to the
SBDC introducing additional sessions on Saturdays, catering
for an even greater number of participants. Following their
introduction in February 2016, around 400 participants have
attended the five Saturday workshops; the new timeslot
proving particularly popular with a younger client group.
As part of the SBDC’s mission to deliver and facilitate relevant,
practical support to small businesses, workshop content
has been reviewed and updated throughout the year.
In August, the paper based workshop feedback surveys were
replaced with an electronic online version. This streamlined
administration processes and provided valuable insight into
client needs.
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Business history of SBDC clients
Others10%

Clients already
in business 35%

Clients preparing
to start a business
or operating a new
business 55%
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Industry Link presentation to WA Chinese
Chamber of Commerce.

Industry Link

Program partners included:

Industry Link provides fundamental business management
information and business skills to support better business
practices and enhanced operator knowledge, leading to
a stronger and more sustainable small business sector.
The program extends the reach of SBDC services by
partnering with industry associations and organisations to
cost-effectively reach a greater number of potential and
existing small business owners.

•

Caravan Industry Association WA

•

Hosted Accommodation Australia

•

WebIT web accessibility group

•

WA Occupational Therapy Association

•

Nursery & Garden Industry WA

•

Aust-China Young Elite Association

•

REIWA Business Brokers Network

Events are generally held at the associations’ premises and
information is delivered by a range of specialist presenters.
Resources and topics covered are based on the SBDC’s
standard workshop suite, tailored to meet the specific needs
of the membership group. The workshops are usually
delivered free of charge (with a small fee sometimes charged
for support materials).

•

Malaga and Districts Business Association

•

Peel Chamber of Commerce

•	Educational institutions including ECU’s WA Screen
Academy, Central TAFE and Mandurah Baptist College

Outcomes for 2015-16
The SBDC partnered with 33 organisations to deliver 36
workshops and events to 1,852 participants (an 85 per cent
increase on last year’s figures).
SBDC representatives provided advice to groups on
topics such as employer obligations, business systems,
importing/exporting, franchising, business migration and
alternative dispute resolution. They also joined judging panels
for small business awards and to advise university business
studies students on operating a business as a career option.
Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16
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What clients sought information about
Other topics 15%
Marketing
and
intellectual
property
4%

Financial
management
26%

Planning and
research 14%

Licensing and
regulations 19%

Starting a
business 22%

Business advisory service
The SBDC provides free, confidential and independent
information and advice across a broad range of critical areas
of management and operations for small businesses. Initial
enquiries relating to general business information and advice
are handled by BIC staff, with more specialist or complex
enquiries referred to the business advisory team. Current
and potential small business owners are supported through
guidance provided by email and a dedicated telephone
hotline, and face-to-face with experienced business advisers
at the SBDC’s office in the Perth CBD. The advisory team also
assists by identifying trends and issues arising in the small
business sector.

Outcomes for 2015-16

1,711
dispute-related
enquiries handled

This year the focus was on clients planning to go into business
for the first time, and those who had recently started their
business, to help them become more resilient by developing
sound business practices. Seventy nine per cent of clients
were seeking assistance from the SBDC advisory service for
the first time. Fifty five per cent were either at the pre-start
or new business stage, and they tended to be based in the
metropolitan area.
There were 8,386 client enquiries for general information and
advice, of which 1,711 (20 per cent) were related to a dispute.

I have twice previously
sought advice on
starting a business once in the UK and
once in Perth. Neither
experience was great
and they certainly
didn’t answer my
questions.
I have just returned from a one-on-one advisory
session at SBDC and feel the need to express my
huge gratitude.
The SBDC adviser was a complete legend and has
given me great advice…..all free! This advice has
been invaluable. Now the lone soldier (as I was)
is part of a team and the reassurance that there is
someone who has been there and done that and
can share his wealth of knowledge is invaluable.
I would not hesitate to recommend the SBDC to
anyone starting a business. I’m sure it’s a resource
I will keep coming back to.
Thank you, and keep up the great work.
Jude Daley, Pareto Law Australia, Bibra Lake

22

Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Agency performance continued. . .

Commercial tenancy advisory service

2,468

clients assisted with
commercial tenancy issues

A commercial lease is an important part of operating for
many small businesses, particularly in relation to its associated
goodwill, value and future sale. Leasing business premises is a
significant financial decision. The SBDC provides information
and guidance on the Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops)
Agreements Act 1985 (CT Act) and all aspects of leasing
business premises.
During the life of a lease, misunderstandings and disputes
can arise between the landlord and the tenant. In such
circumstances, the specialist commercial tenancy advisory
service refers clients to the SBDC’s alternative dispute
resolution service to resolve disputes in a timely and
cost-effective manner.
The commercial tenancy advisory service provides specialist
information and guidance to small business landlords and
tenants and other industry stakeholders on:
• the operation of the CT Act;
•	all aspects of leasing business premises including leasing
retail premises in shopping centres; and
•

commercial tenancy disputes.

Outcomes for 2015-16
Repairs and
maintenance 8%

Operating expenses 18%

Rent and
rent review 11%

All commercial
tenancy (CT)
enquiries

Termination of
tenancy 13%

Starters advice 14%

Others 36%

76%

24%
Termination of
tenancy 15%
Others
41%

Non-dispute
enquiries

Tenant/ landlord
disputes

Rent and
rent review
15%

22%
Operating
expenses
15%

To ADR
service

78%
Finalised
by CT
advisers

Repairs and
maintenance
14%
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Through its engagement with landlords, tenants and other
stakeholders, the SBDC is well positioned to provide advice
to the government on the operation of the CT Act and issues
that need to be addressed. This year the SBDC provided
advice to the:
•	Department of Commerce (the regulator of the CT Act)
on leasing topics suitable for inclusion in mandatory
professional development for the real estate industry;
and
•	Public Utilities Office in relation to the on-selling of
electricity within shopping centres.
The Small Business Commissioner meets regularly with
industry stakeholders, including representatives of the
Magistrates Court, Shopping Centre Council of Australia,
and Australian Property Institute, to understand current
issues relating to commercial tenancy.
Having a Small Business Commissioner and the SBDC’s
alternative dispute resolution service has led to tangible
improvements in retail leasing arrangements in WA. The
agency will continue to monitor the market to determine if
further action is required to protect small business owners.
Information relating to commercial tenancy on the SBDC’s
website has been improved to further boost the agency’s
services to landlords, tenants and other stakeholders.
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I would like to thank the SBDC for the advice
I received in relation to a problematic commercial
lease situation.
Not only did we save hundreds of dollars in legal
fees, the information provided also potentially
saved us $60,000 in overpayments on our lease.
I feel that all small businesses should be aware
of the benefits that the SBDC can offer and
I recommend they have the SBDC number on
speed dial.

Tony Ivory
Back and Neck Bedding Company
Myaree and Osborne Park
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Alternative dispute resolution (ADR) service –
business-to-business disputes
The SBDC’s alternative dispute resolution (ADR) service assists
small business owners to resolve business-to-business or
business-to-government disputes. ADR is a voluntary process
whereby disputing parties attempt to resolve their issue
with the assistance of an impartial third party. As part of this
process, SBDC case managers provide assistance to all parties
in dispute, helping them to understand their rights and
responsibilities, clarify issues and explore options to resolve
the matter.
The ADR service gives small business owners an opportunity
to resolve disputes in a timely and cost-effective manner,
without needing to engage in a formal legal process.
It provides parties with greater control over the resolution
process and any resulting outcome or agreement.
Early, effective ADR can also have a positive effect on
maintaining ongoing business relationships.

* Cases are referred to as ‘finalised’ when they
have been closed. They may be finalised for
a number of reasons including the dispute
being resolved, one or more party no
longer wanting to proceed, or the matter
being taken to court.

Disputes that cannot be resolved through intensive case
management can progress to mediation, if both parties are
still willing. The SBDC has established a pool of independent,
professional mediators and facilitates the mediation process.
The mediation service is subsidised by the State Government
with participating parties each contributing a small fee.

Outcomes for 2015-16
This year a total of 424 new cases were referred to the
ADR team for intensive case management. Case managers
finalised* 428 cases (including cases from the previous year),
with an approximate dispute value of $14.8 million (based on
client estimations). At 30 June 2016, 40 cases remain active
and will be finalised during the next financial year.
Of the 428 cases finalised, 129 related to commercial tenancy
matters. In 94 per cent of these, the (CT) disputes were
finalised as a result of intensive case management, thereby
removing the need for parties to seek mediation.
Intensive case management support provided for the
other 299 (non CT) disputes, mainly related to contractual
obligations, non-payment issues and the non-performance
or non-supply of business-related goods or services.
Disputes that could not be finalised through intensive case
management were referred to mediation. A total of 16
mediations (including two relating to farm debt) were held
during the year, with a successful resolution reached in 12
cases, resulting in potentially costly litigation being avoided.
The value of disputes successfully resolved through the
SBDC mediation process in 2015-16 was estimated at
$5.2 million (including $3.8 million relating to the Farm Debt
Mediation Scheme).
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Outcome of
business-to-business disputes

All finalised
cases
70%

30%

Non commercial
tenancy issues

Commercial
tenancy issues

98%

2%

6%

Cases finalised
by intensive case
management

To mediation

To mediation

94%
Cases finalised
by intensive case
management

Please accept my sincere thanks for all the
assistance you have provided. The issues I
experienced with the sale of my shares in a business
have been ongoing, expensive and very stressful.
You have been so patient, understanding and
professional and your assistance provided me with
information, evidence and referrals that were critical
to enabling a resolution to my dispute.
I highly recommend the SBDC and its services,
which in my situation were invaluable.

75%
of cases
resolved
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Karen Twort
Former business owner, Duncraig
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Alternative dispute resolution (ADR) service –
business-to-government disputes
As part of the ADR service, the SBDC is also responsible for
investigating business-to-government enquiries and disputes.
The service assists small businesses experiencing difficulty
dealing with all levels of government through:
•

clarification of government policies and procedures;

•	investigation of the rationale behind government
decisions impacting small businesses;
•	communicating small business concerns to government
and advocating on behalf of individual businesses;
•

researching licensing and other red tape issues; and

•	negotiating with government authorities to determine
alternative solutions that are mutually beneficial to
both parties.

Outcomes for 2015-16
During the year, the SBDC investigated 47 dispute-related
business-to-government enquiries, 15 of which required
intensive case management. Two thirds of these related to
local government matters, with planning/zoning approvals,
development applications, business licensing, parking,
signage and tenancy issues being the most commonly
reported disputes. State Government enquiries, accounting
for all except one of the other cases, related mainly to
contractual disputes, occupational/business licensing and
tendering issues.
In most instances the SBDC advocated on behalf of the small
business operator to the relevant government authority, to
attempt to resolve the matter. No business-to-government
disputes were referred to mediation this year.

The SBDC also uses these business-to-government enquiries
and disputes to identify broader issues and trends. These
in turn help inform the agency’s policy development and
advocacy activities.
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ADR service assists with agribusiness dispute
The owners of an agribusiness located in regional WA purchased a large
piece of equipment for more than $125,000 but had been unable to use
the equipment due to ongoing technical difficulties. They’d had lengthy
discussions with the local dealer since the purchase but had been unable
to reach a solution. Approaches to the Australian manufacturer located
interstate were also unsuccessful.
As the winter rains approached it became imperative that the machinery
be operational or the owners would be forced to purchase a second-hand
replacement for around $60,000 to meet their immediate needs.
After almost two years of frustration and despair trying to negotiate a
solution, the owners of the agribusiness approached the SBDC for advice
and spoke to an ADR case manager.

Following initial detailing of the issue in dispute and inviting all parties in
the supply chain to mediation, the parties elected to meet face-to-face with
an ADR case manager. This involved two representatives of the manufacturer
flying to Perth for the meeting.
The discussions resulted in a positive outcome, saving the cost of mediation
and any further legal proceedings. A dispute that had been running for more
than two years was resolved in less than three hours, to the satisfaction of
all parties. It included technicians being sent to ensure the machinery was
operational as soon as possible, if this failed it was agreed that a refund
would be provided.
Due to the flexibility of the ADR service to produce multi-faceted
outcomes in a short time-frame, the matter was resolved while retaining
the goodwill of the parties. It is unlikely this could have been achieved
in an adversarial environment.
(At the clients’ request, names have been omitted to maintain confidentiality.)
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Farm Debt Mediation Scheme

Business Migration program

The Farm Debt Mediation Scheme (FDMS) is a new initiative
providing impartial assistance to agribusinesses in dispute
with financial institutions to work together to reach
agreement. It is a joint project between the SBDC and the
Rural Business Development Corporation (RBDC), funded by
the Department of Agriculture and Food WA.

The SBDC is responsible for managing the Western Australian
Government’s Business Migration program. This program is a
key investment attraction initiative for the State, as business
migrants make a significant contribution to WA’s economic
well-being. Business migrants are a leading source of new
capital through investment, establishing businesses, and
generating export income and new employment.

Outcomes for 2015-16
The FDMS received nine applications; two were settled
through negotiation, two are pending, one was withdrawn
and one continues to negotiate with the other party. The
remaining three were referred to mediation; one dispute was
settled, two others remain pending.

The SBDC promotes WA to migration agents and potential
business migrants through local and international marketing
initiatives. The program attracts migrants by:

The applications have come from agribusinesses with financial
interests in areas other than farming or pastoral business that
are linked to the commercial debt. The individual disputes are
estimated to range in value from $1 million to $3.8 million.
Most of the applications have come from businesses in the
Central Wheatbelt region.

•	providing information on business visa options as well as
living, working and establishing a business in WA; and

•	marketing the State as a leading destination for
investment, employment, education and lifestyle;

•	supporting qualifying clients with State nomination to
become eligible to lodge a visa application with the
Department of Immigration and Border Protection under
the Business Innovation and Investment program.
To generate maximum exposure for the Business Migration
program and to assist new migrants in establishing and
developing their businesses in WA, the SBDC has strategic
alliances with the:
•	Department of State Development’s international trade
and investment offices; jointly participating in events,
presentations and attending appointments with potential
business migrants.
Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16
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•	Migration Institute of Australia and WA branches of the
Migration Alliance; providing these organisations with
up-to-date information on the policies and criteria for
State nomination for them to distribute to migration
agents in WA and overseas.

$302.3M
injected into the

•	WA Chinese Chamber of Commerce; jointly hosting events
with the Chamber to ensure new business migrants are
aware of the services provided by the SBDC.

WA economy by
business migrants
$$

YK and Chia Ling are business migrants from Malaysia
with three children, all involved in studying and
playing music. They are planning to expand their
music shop Crescendo Music in the future by moving
to bigger premises and building sound recording
studios and rooms for music lessons.

When we first arrived in Perth, we were advised
to contact the Small Business Development
Corporation, Business Migration Centre for guidelines
and requirements for setting up a business here in
WA. From the very beginning the officers have always
responded to my enquiries quickly and efficiently,
we truly appreciate their guidance.
Yown Khuong (YK) On and Chia Ling Choong
Crescendo Music, Myaree
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•	Department of Immigration and Border Protection; as
a member of the national Skilled Migration Officials
Group, the SBDC assists with business migration policy
development, strategies and initiatives.

Outcomes for 2015-16
During 2015-2016 the SBDC nominated business migrants
from 29 countries to invest and establish businesses in WA.
The combined markets of Malaysia and Singapore
(37 per cent) have overtaken China (25 per cent) as the
State’s key market for business migrants.
Representatives from the SBDC and WA international trade
and investment offices participated in business migration
activities in Perth and the State’s prime international markets
of Singapore, Malaysia and China. Nearly 1,500 potential
business migrants or their representatives attended
presentations or visited the State to explore business and
investment opportunities.
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Interviews were conduct overseas with 187 potential business
migrants and information was presented to 131 migration
agents and their staff.
These events formed part of the overall marketing strategy
to attract new migrants, and to develop and reinforce
relationships with the State’s international trade offices and
migration agents based locally in Perth and in prime target
countries.
During 2015–16 the SBDC:
•	Responded to 1,949 enquiries and nomination
applications from migration agents and prospective
business migrants.
•	Approved 210 State nominations for new business
migrants to apply for visas to commence business or
investment in WA.

•	Approved 142 State nominations for business migrants
who confirmed their investment in WA.
•	Raised $222,500 in revenue from State nomination
application fees, which was used to assist with the cost
of operating and promoting the program.
The 142 business migrants who finalised their investment
this year injected $302.3 million into the State’s economy
for business establishment, investment in Treasury Bonds,
personal expenditure and settlement costs. These migrants
also created 157 new jobs and 12 exporting businesses.
Investment and businesses established by migrants range
across a variety of industry sectors including retail and
hospitality, accommodation and property development.
Of the export business, products exported included health
and agricultural products and technology.

Confirmed investment from Permanent Residency Business Visa holders
Business migration

2012-13

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

Total capital in-flow
Capital in business
WA Treasury Bonds
Jobs created
Businesses exporting

$260.5M
$78M
$20.5M
90
13

$259.5M
$110.7M
$18.7M
256
16

$269.9M
$103.9M
$22.2M
124
14

$302.3M
$139.8M
$20.0M
157
12
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Regional Buy Local Initiative
Craig Hepburn
migrated with his family
from Durban, South
Africa, under a Business
Migration visa, and now
operates a specialist
hobby toy business in
O’Connor.

Moving to another country is a major upheaval,
particularly if you’re selling existing businesses and
homes. On top of that, providing the information
that visas require can be frustrating and expensive
and it takes a very long time.
Once we arrived in Australia things went more
smoothly and much quicker, and it was so nice to
be able to talk directly with the business migration
officers at the SBDC. Being able to ask questions
and get the answers straight away made things so
much easier.

Craig Hepburn
HobbyTech Toys, O’Connor
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The Regional Buy Local Initiative stage 2 (RBLI2) is a Royalties
for Regions (RfR) funded program delivered jointly by the
Department of Commerce and the SBDC.
In 2015-16, the SBDC received an additional $50,000 from
RfR to deliver a suite of services to build the capacity of
regional small businesses, enabling them to access major
government and private sectors supply chains.
RBLI2 provided a program of workshops, support for small
business owners to access professional business services
and an online business diagnostic tool – the SBDC Business
Health Check.
The SBDC developed five new workshops and engaged a
consultant to deliver a sixth, covering the following topics:
•	Business-to-business customer service
(consultant workshop);
•

Tendering, contracting and pre-qualification;

•

Business management skills;

•

Website and optimisation essentials;

•

Using social media in your business; and

•	Talking business - corporate communication
for Aboriginal businesses.
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Regional small business owners were provided with access
to professional business services through a subsidised
business assistance program. The program offered dollar for
dollar matched funding of up to $5,000 per application.
In order to qualify, businesses had to first complete the SBDC
Business Health Check with the assistance of an approved
business adviser.
The SBDC Business Health Check was initially developed in
a paper-based format, before moving to an online version
in December. The tool provides business owners with an
opportunity to assess the strength, agility, flexibility and
sustainability of their operations through a simple question
and answer process and can be completed with or without
the assistance of a business adviser. Business owners receive
a final report outlining the strengths and weaknesses of their
business, plus advice on best practice in ten focus areas.

Outcomes for 2015-16
Overall, RBLI2 delivered significant benefits to regional small
businesses. The subsidised business assistance program also
provided a substantial flow-on effect for regional professional
service providers, many of whom are also small businesses.

The subsidised business assistance program was accessed
by 103 regional small businesses. The program was so
oversubscribed that the overall RBLI2 budget was amended
to provide an additional allocation of $92,000.
Using the dollar for dollar matched funding, regional small
businesses accessed professional services valued at $530,000
($265,000 provided in grants). Services accessed included
business planning, marketing, online development, strategic
planning, occupational health and safety, and business
systems improvement. Businesses taking part in the program
were able to choose their own professional service providers
based on their specific needs, however they were encouraged
to use local suppliers if possible.
Between July and December 2015, the paper-based SBDC
Business Health Check was undertaken by 163 businesses.
Following the launch of the online version in January 2016
there were 47 registrations, with 28 being completed. Forty
five per cent of those who accessed it were based in the Perth
metropolitan area, with the remainder from regional areas.

The workshop program delivered 61 workshops in eight
regions, attracting 830 attendees.
While no workshops were held in the Gascoyne due to a lack
of demand, the overall number of workshops and attendees
exceeded expectations.
Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16
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Aboriginal Business Directory WA
The SBDC administers the Aboriginal Business Directory
WA (ABDWA). This Statewide initiative provides information
detailing the capabilities of the more than 400 registered
Aboriginal-owned small businesses, covering a wide range of
products and services. The government and private sectors
can use the directory when purchasing goods and services
such as catering, stationery, photography services and
building maintenance.

Ausum Initiatives - The Entrepreneurship
Program
The SBDC has worked with the Ausum Initiatives organisation
to mentor students on the principles of starting and
running a small business. The program aims to increase
student participation in education and improving their
academic performance.

The SBDC has continued to work with stakeholders to
increase awareness of the directory and its benefits, through
presentations, forums and workshops.

Small Business Commissioner David Eaton with visitors at the
WA Aboriginal Tourism Operators Council conference.
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Winners of Entrepreneurship Program
at Mandurah Baptist College.
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Business Local

Business Local
A Small Business Development Corporation service
funded by the Government of Western Australia

The Business Local service is the SBDC’s business advisory
outreach service. This service commenced on 1 July 2015
following a tender process to select high quality service
providers. The Business Local service is delivered by seven
providers across 12 designated regions across the State, nine
in regional areas and three in the Perth metropolitan area.
In 2015-16 the SBDC allocated $3.5 million in funding to the
service providers, of which $2.7 million (80 per cent) was
allocated to regional WA.
The transition from the Small Business Centre Program to the
Business Local service went smoothly and is now complete.
The introduction of new metrics has enabled the SBDC to
estimate the arising net economic benefits, both for the small
business sector and the State.

Outcomes for 2015-16
Throughout 2015-16 the Business Local service supported
new and existing small business operators through direct
person-to-person business advisory services, assistance
with start-up strategies (in regional areas only), business
growth plans, business resilience guidance and help with
business exits.

During the first year of operation small business clients of the
service reported $96.9 million of net economic impact for
WA; comprising increasing business turnover by $53 million,
assisting with capital investment of $28.8 million and
$15.1 million in newly created jobs. The Business Local service
had approximately 33,000 client engagements and produced
12,810 action plans to guide individual business owners.

12,810

action plans to guide
business owners created
by Business Local
service providers
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Policy and advocacy
Throughout 2015-16 the SBDC continued to influence small
business policy development, and advocate to all levels of
government on behalf of individual small business operators
and the sector as a whole. Wherever possible, the views and
feedback of WA small business operators were incorporated
into the SBDC’s response to major policy and legislative
reviews and inquiries.
Ensuring a fair and conducive operating environment for
the sector was a key focus of this advocacy work, particularly
in relation to minimising the impact of regulation on small
business operators. This included contributing to the State’s
regulatory reform agenda and contributing to reviews of
national competition and consumer laws. The SBDC also
provided advice on the creation of the new Australian
Small Business and Family Enterprise Ombudsman. At the
federal level, the agency’s credentials as an informed and
representative advocate of the State’s small business sector
continued to be recognised by the Australian Treasury, the
Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (ACCC)
and the Productivity Commission, amongst others.
The SBDC has collaborated with the Departments of Premier
and Cabinet, Finance, and Commerce to advance regulatory
reforms, as well as with other regulators, as part of the State
Government’s Plan to Reinvigorate Regulatory Reform.
Surveys of small business operators, including the fourth
annual SBDC State of Small Business survey and consultation
36
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with industry and business representatives, covered a
range of topics including occupational licensing, business
expectations, access to finance and digital literacy. The
findings contributed to SBDC’s service provision and
advocacy activities.
The SBDC also researched and advised the Minister for Small
Business on a broad range of matters affecting the small
business sector, including:
•	the compliance burden of red tape and
regulatory processes;
•

workplace relations and the impact of penalty rates;

•	the impact on taxi operators of proposed reforms to the
on-demand transport industry;
•	opportunities to improve online service delivery to small
business by government;
•	the non-payment of subcontractors working on major
government projects and security of payment issues
within the construction industry;
•

the role of state and federal dispute resolution services;

•	the extension of unfair contract term protections to
small business;
•	the impact of the State Government’s ban on commercial
solaria/sun-beds;
•

improvements to the State planning system;

•	the role of local government in regulating small
business operations, including mobile food vending
and roadside signage;
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•	opportunities to support small business innovation and
respond to digital disruption;
•

business skills training for agriculture and food businesses;

•

mobile and telecommunications needs in regional WA;

•

government contracts and the procurement process;

•

deregulation of the State’s potato industry;

•	the payment terms and practices of large businesses,
especially that of major mining companies;
•	the impact of payroll and land taxes on small
business employers;
•

the proposed privatisation of the TAB;

•

the review of competition policies and laws;

•	matters related to commercial tenancies, including the onselling of electricity; and
•

the commissions paid to LotteryWest (lotto) retailers.

The SBDC provided advice on topics of interest to those
audiences to support the Minister in attending a number of
small business and community forums and other functions
during the year.

Reviews, submissions and consultations
An important function of the SBDC is to monitor and review
regulatory reforms and proposed amendments to legislation
that relates to small business. This includes liaising with other
government agencies and small business stakeholders to
ensure the impacts of policy and regulatory decisions are
understood and addressed.

The SBDC regularly consults with key small business
representative groups to remain informed of issues and
emerging trends. There is active engagement with a number
of important stakeholders, including:
•	The Regional Chambers of Commerce and Industry WA
(RCCIWA) via participation in monthly teleconferences and
attendance at biannual conferences. RCCIWA is the peak
organisation representing the interests of chambers of
commerce and industry and business associations in the
regions, with a collective membership of more than
9,000 businesses.
•	The Combined Small Business Alliance of Western
Australia (CoSBA); an organisation representing business
associations, local chambers of commerce and other small
business support organisations.
•	The Australian Competition and Consumer Commission
(ACCC) on competition, small business and franchising
policy matters, including the Australian Consumer Law
and Competition and Consumer Act 2010, unfair contracts,
the Franchising and Horticulture Codes of Conduct, and
authorisations and determinations.
By providing formal submissions or liaising directly with
other agencies, the SBDC ensures the interests of the State’s
small businesses are considered when there are proposed
legislative amendments, new regulations or government
policy changes that may affect the sector.
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Outcomes for 2015-16

Regulatory gatekeeping

During the year, the SBDC provided input to a number of
significant reviews and regulatory proposals at federal and
state levels, including the:

Managed by the Regulatory Gatekeeping Unit (RGU) of the
Department of Finance, the Regulatory Impact Assessment
(RIA) program is a two stage process to review proposals for
new or amended regulation. All regulatory proposals must
include a Preliminary Impact Assessment (PIA) to identify
potential impacts on small businesses, the economy and
consumers. If the impact is significant, a more thorough
Regulatory Impact Statement (RIS) is undertaken.

•	Australian Treasury’s Australian Consumer
Law (ACL) Review;
•	Australian Treasury’s Options Paper on Misuse of Market
Power Laws;
•	Australian Treasury’s Review of the Horticulture
Code of Conduct;
•	Australian Treasury’s Discussion Paper on the
Enhancement of the Role of the Australian Small
Business Commissioner;
•	Senate Legal and Constitutional Affairs Legislation
Committee Inquiry into the Australian Small Business
and Family Enterprise Ombudsman Bill 2015 and
consequential amendments;
•	Department of Commerce’s Stage 2 Review of the
Regulation of Motor Vehicle Dealers and Repairers;
•	Department of Commerce’s Statutory Review of the
Employment Agents Act 1976;
•	Department of Transport’s On-Demand Transport reforms;
and
•	Public Utilities Office Amendments to Electricity and Gas
On-selling Licensing Exemptions.
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The SBDC plays an important role by reviewing PIAs and RISs
and providing feedback from a small business perspective to
the RGU and/or sponsoring agency.

Outcomes for 2015-16
The SBDC reviewed 12 PIAs from seven government agencies.
The feedback included general support with no objections;
a recommendation for increased clarity of the proposal’s
purpose and intended outcomes; a recommendation for
further consultation with stakeholders; and comments
about reducing the compliance burden (i.e. limiting the
frequency of reporting, encouraging online form lodgement
and payments, and considering users when developing
new forms).
During the year, the SBDC also completed an RGU survey and
participated in an inter-agency working group to improve
the RIA program, streamline the PIA process and enhance the
measurement of regulatory burden.
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Influencing regulatory reform
The SBDC continues to focus on identifying and reducing
unnecessary compliance burdens on small business.
It has contributed to a cross-agency project examining the
restaurant industry and looked at ways to progress the
State Government’s Plan to Reinvigorate Regulatory Reform.
The agency has also advocated for the introduction of
risk-based regulatory frameworks and greater digitisation
of licence applications.

Outcomes for 2015-16
The SBDC collaborated with the Department of Finance to
map the regulatory process involved in starting a restaurant
in WA. The final report, endorsed by Cabinet in May 2016,
identified licensing requirements regulators could streamline,
to make it easier to start a restaurant. It also included a map
of how to obtain government approvals, as well as shortcuts
and tips for aspiring restaurateurs. A number of the report’s
recommendations are currently being implemented by the
relevant authorities.

The SBDC has continued to work with the Department of
Finance in relation to the Plan to Reinvigorate Regulatory
Reform. The Plan focuses on reducing red tape and
promoting a whole-of-government approach to drive
innovation and reduce barriers to entrepreneurial activity.
This included participating in a cross-agency Red Tape
Reduction Champions Group and providing input to the
State Government’s Regulatory Reform Policy Statement and
Parliament’s Repeal Week activities.
The agency actively monitors developments relating to
innovation and digital disruption, particularly the impact of
new business models, online platforms and shifting consumer
preferences on regulated industries (such as taxis and
accommodation providers).

Based on the success of this project, the SBDC will receive
funding in 2016-17 to undertake further 90 day regulatory
mapping projects to identify and implement reforms to
reduce regulation and remove red tape in priority areas of the
economy. The agency is currently scoping projects.
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Communications and marketing

•

The SBDC uses a range of on and off-line channels to engage
with its clients and stakeholders. The channels are used to
raise awareness of the small business sector and its value
to the State’s economy, and to promote the SBDC’s support
services for business owners and operators.

•	small business advice on taxation, employing,
risk management, social media, marketing and doing
business online;

A broad range of communications activities are employed
including public relations, marketing, advertising, events,
social media, speaking opportunities, content marketing and
distributing news stories to local, state and interstate media.

•	attendance at exhibitions including the Franchise
Opportunities Roadshow and the Metropolitan Migrant
Resource Centre.

The SBDC also raises awareness of its support for small
business and key stakeholders in regional areas by sponsoring
local small business awards and managing a Statewide
awards program.

Outcomes for 2015-16
Media and public relations
The SBDC used a variety of paid and earned media to
promote the agency’s services and the importance of the
small business sector to the State’s economy. Over the past
year the SBDC’s key earned media and public relations
coverage included:
•	results of small business surveys and polls including
the SBDC Business Expectations survey;
•	the 2015 Western Australian Regional Small
Business Awards;
40
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successful outcomes from the dispute resolution process;

•	promoting programs and initiatives from other state
and federal government agencies; and

Promotion of these topics was undertaken through media
releases, inclusion in the SBDC e-news, SBDC’s Facebook page,
news bulletins on the SBDC website and magazine articles.
During the year, 21 magazine articles were written for
business and trade publications, on topics including
understanding business financials, risk management,
taxation, online marketing, tips for first time employers
and innovation in small business. Articles created by the
SBDC were published in Brush Strokes (Master Painters and
Decorators), The Grower (Vegetables WA), MTA News (Motor
Trades Association), Belmont Business Talk (City of Belmont),
Chung Wah (Chinese Chamber of Commerce) and
Inside Small Business magazine.
The SBDC has access to extensive networks of small business
owners and organisations, and works closely with other
government agencies to raise awareness of legislation and
regulations that impact small business. During 2015-16, the
SBDC assisted the Australian Taxation Office, Department of
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Communications and the Arts, Department of Commerce
(Consumer Protection), Australian Competition and Consumer
Commission (ACCC), Department of Local Government and
Communities, Curtin University of Technology, Department
of Health, IP Australia, Australian Securities and Investments
Commission (ASIC), Fair Work Ombudsman and WA Police
(Crimestoppers) to inform the small business sector about
important developments.
In total, 26 media releases were distributed and 12 monthly
e-news editions were published to more than 6,000
subscribers. More than 117 articles featuring the Small
Business Commissioner, the SBDC or Business Local
providers appeared in local and national newspapers and
online news services.
Through well established relationships with the media, the
SBDC is recognised as a reliable source of small business
information and statistics, and a ready source of introductions
for journalists seeking successful small business owners for
print and television stories. During the year in review, more
than 80 media inquiries were handled by the agency.
Speeches and briefing notes to promote the significance of
the small business sector and the services of the SBDC for a
significant number of events were provided to the office of
the Minister for Small Business.

Digital communications
Stakeholder engagement through the SBDC’s Facebook page
continued to grow. The number of people ‘liking’ the page
increased by almost 30 per cent compared to the previous
year, and the number of posts made by the SBDC to the page
doubled. The posts were seen by almost 400,000 users, 90 per
cent up on the previous 12 months.
Facebook advertising continued, with the aim of driving
traffic to targeted messages on the SBDC website focussing
on building workshop attendance. With a limited marketing
budget, a low cost campaign of sponsored Facebook posts
was implemented during February (a time when people often
consider starting their own business) to boost attendance at
the Business Basics workshop.
Facebook advertising was also employed to promote the
launch of the Business Local service and the online Business
Health Check diagnostic tool.
The Facebook group ‘I’m a small business owner in Western
Australia’, continued to provide a highly active virtual
networking space for small business operators. It is an
environment where people interested in small business
can feel comfortable in sharing and connecting with each
other. The group members actively participate in discussions
and have created a self-moderating online community.
There is a consistently high level of engagement with new
discussions and comment threads posted every day.
The group is monitored around the clock by members of
Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16
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the communications and marketing team to ensure
adherence to the group’s guidelines and the swift removal
of gratuitous advertising. Membership has grown to
almost 2,600.
Advertising
In addition to targeted campaigns through Facebook, the
launch of the Business Local service was supported through
advertising in the metropolitan press and regional television.
Similar support for the launch of the online Business Health
Check diagnostic tool was provided through advertising in
regional press.
Western Australian Regional Small Business Awards
The SBDC continued to actively support small business
award programs in regional areas that feed into the Western
Australian Regional Small Business Awards. In 2015-16,
15 local programs received $67,909 in sponsorship from
the SBDC.
These regional award programs, managed by local chambers
of commerce and business associations, help raise the profile
of small businesses in regional areas and acknowledge their
significant contribution to local communities. The SBDC’s
support of these programs and associated branding and
speaking opportunities also helped to raise the profile of
the agency and the services it provides directly and through
partner organisations to all areas of the State.
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The SBDC further supported regional award programs
through the rollout of a new workshop to advise small
business owners on how to become ‘awards-ready’.
The number of live workshops was limited by budgetary
and geographical constraints, so to maintain an equitable
level of access to this resource across all regional areas an
online version was developed. Coordinators of regional award
programs also have an option to ‘facilitate’ an online workshop
if they consider it appropriate for their region. The workshop
has been promoted through targeted media releases and
Facebook advertising.
The thirteenth annual Western Australian Regional Small
Business Awards program received applications from across
the State, and culminated in a gala presentation event
held in Perth in November 2015. The Awards celebrate the
achievements of the small business sector in regional areas by
providing Statewide recognition for winners of local business
award programs that are supported by the SBDC.
The 2015 presentation event was attended by the Minister for
Small Business; the Parliamentary Secretary to the Minister for
Regional Development, Lands; small business operators, their
staff, families and friends; Business Local providers; regional
chambers of commerce and industry; business associations;
sponsoring companies and media representatives.
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Finalists and winners of 2015 Western Australian Regional Small Business Awards.

Prizes of $1,000 (cash) were provided to each category winner,
while the overall winner also received a $25,000 airtime
package provided by major sponsor, the GWN7 television
network, and production of an advertisement provided by
supporter Lomax Media.
The category award winners for 2015 were:
•

Business of the Year - Forest Edge Recreation Camp, Peel

•	Home-based Business - KalyaaNa Spa & Wellness Retreat,
South West
•

Franchise Business - Quality Inn Margaret River, South West

•

Small Business Achiever - Pilbara Photographics, Pilbara

•

Aboriginal Business - Beautylicious by Chelsea, Pilbara

•	Business with 0-4 Employees - Full Steam
A Head-land, Pilbara

•	Business with 5-10 Employees - Forest Edge Recreation
Camp, Peel
•

Business with 11-20 Employees - 4 Life Physiotherapy, Peel

The event received Statewide media coverage, with
the winners also highlighted in full and double-page
advertisements in The West Australian and the regionally
distributed Regional Lifestyle Magazine. The advertising was
supported by a sponsorship package from the West Regional
Newspaper Group. Social media continued to provide an
excellent vehicle for broad event coverage, with the SBDC’s
Facebook page also used to highlight supporting regional
events, sponsors and winners.
During 2015-16, the SBDC received $206,000 in Royalties
for Regions funding in support of the Western Australian
Regional Small Business Awards program.
Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16
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Corporate governance
Governance disclosures
Enabling legislation
The Small Business Development Corporation Act 1983 makes
provision for the establishment of the Small Business
Development Corporation and Small Business Commissioner
to encourage, promote, facilitate and assist the establishment,
development and carrying on of small business in the State
and for incidental and other purposes.

SBDC Board
The SBDC is governed by a Board, drawn from the private
sector under the auspices of the Small Business Development
Corporation Act 1983. The eight-member Board (including
the Commissioner as ex officio) meets on a monthly basis to
consider issues relevant to the direction and operation of
the agency.

Small Business Commissioner David Eaton with SBDC Board
members visiting Geraldton
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Membership as at 30 June 2016 comprised:
Caterina (Kitty)
Prodonovich

Susan
Bailey

Steven
Dobson

Nicolle
Jenkins

Kitty Prodonovich initially joined
the Board in May 2008 and took up
her position in September 2008.
Ms Prodonovich was appointed Chair
of the Board on 1 October 2014.
Ms Prodonovich has owned and
operated a number of small businesses,
including two award winning
businesses in the Goldfields. She was
the recipient of the Goldfields Young
Achiever Award and winner of the
2002 Goldfields Business of the Year.
She was elected the youngest executive
member of the Kalgoorlie Boulder
Chamber of Commerce and Industry
and is a past president. Ms Prodonovich
is also Chief Executive Officer of the
Regional Chambers of Commerce and
Industry in WA.

Susan Bailey was appointed to the
Board in April 2014. Ms Bailey is a former
owner of two furniture and homeware
stores, and also has 30 years experience
in the residential construction sector,
working with builders and other small
business participants in the industry.
Ms Bailey is past president of the
WA Housing Industry Association,
a Board member of the Construction
Training Fund Board, and a consultant
to the industry.

Steven Dobson was appointed to the
Board in September 2012. Mr Dobson is
a financial planner and director of Mal
Dobson & Associates, a family-owned
small business, specialising in financial
advice to small business owners.
Mr Dobson is a former member of
the WA Police. Mr Dobson has held
numerous board memberships.
He currently serves on Meritum
Financial Group Advisory Board, is a
coach and committee member at Bull
Creek Leeming Junior Football Club,
a firefighter with Jandakot Volunteer
Bushfire Brigade and an active Justice
of the Peace. Mr Dobson holds an MBA
from Murdoch University and a Bachelor
of Business from RMIT University. He is
a Graduate Member of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors.

Nicolle Jenkins was appointed to the
Board in December 2015. Ms Jenkins
is managing director of The Hub
Marketing Communications, a strategic
marketing and communications
business. With more than twenty years
experience in the marketing industry,
Ms Jenkins has expertise across all
aspects of business development,
digital strategy, brand and change
management and marketing
communications. In 2015, she won a
national marketing excellence award
in the corporate social responsibility
category, was an award winner in the
2012 40 under 40 awards and finalist in
the WA Telstra Business Awards in 2009
and 2011. Ms Jenkins is currently Chair
of Intework, one of Western Australia’s
largest disability organisations, Director
and General Council member of the
Chamber of Commerce and Industry
WA, and co-founder of the Small
Business Matters movement.
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Anthony
Masi

Allan
Pendal

Caroline (Ra)
Stewart

David
Eaton (ex officio)

Anthony Masi was appointed to
the Board in April 2014. Mr Masi is
a pharmacist and has owned and
operated successful small businesses in
regional Western Australia since 1991.
These include a camera store, a health
food shop, an IGA grocery store and two
pharmacies. He currently employs 35
staff in Broome. He is a board member
of Boab Health, former board member
of the Kimberley Pilbara Medicare Local,
and Vice President of The Pharmacy
Guild of Australia (WA Branch). Mr Masi
is also an active member of the Kyle
Andrews Foundation Inc, a Broomebased children’s cancer charity. He was
Chair from 2008-2010 and is currently
the organisation’s Treasurer.

Allan Pendal was appointed to the
Board in October 2014. Mr Pendal is
co-owner of a real estate business in
Kalgoorlie-Boulder. He has extensive
experience in the finance/banking
sector and was financial controller and
company secretary for a large public
company. Mr Pendal is currently
Deputy Mayor of the Kalgoorlie-Boulder
City Council.

Ra Stewart was appointed to the Board
in December 2015. Ms Stewart has over
30 years experience as a marketing
and communications professional.
Ms Stewart has been a passionate
advocate for small business, having
been a board member of the Fremantle
Chamber of Commerce since 2008,
including a four year term as president.
Ms Stewart is currently senior associate
with public relations and marketing
consultancy JLCA, providing strategic
communications and business advisory
services to a diverse range of clients.

David Eaton was appointed Western
Australia’s first Small Business
Commissioner and CEO of the Small
Business Development Corporation
(SBDC) in December 2011. In this dual
role, Mr Eaton is responsible for the
day-to-day operations of the SBDC as
well as the alternative dispute resolution
service for small business.
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Mr Eaton has extensive business
management experience, beginning
his career as a small business owner,
followed by a successful corporate
career with Australia Post. He is also
a Graduate Member of the Australian
Institute of Company Directors and
an advisory board member of Curtin
University Business School.
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Functions of the Board

Operational roles of the Board include:

As the SBDC’s governing body, the Board has responsibility
for performing the functions set out in the Small Business
Development Corporation Act 1983.

•

The SBDC Board has four strategic roles:

setting strategies;

•	focussing on client service and customer needs;
•	striving for organisational best practice and compliance
with standards; and
•	delegation of operational decision-making to officers
within the SBDC.

1. Setting the direction of the agency;
2. Determination of standards;				
3.	Coordination of planning, policies, and decision-making
frameworks; and
4.	Acting in an advisory capacity to the Minister, the
government and other agencies.

Members current as at 30 June 2016
Terms of appointment/meetings attended
Name
Ms Caterina (Kitty) Prodonovich
Ms Susan Bailey
Mr Steven Dobson
Mr Anthony Masi
Mr Allan Pendal
Ms Nicolle Jenkins
Ms Caroline (Ra) Stewart
Mr David Eaton (ex officio)
1

Initially appointed

Term expires

12/05/2008
07/04/2014
10/09/2012
07/04/2014
01/10/2014
07/12/2015
07/12/2015

01/10/2017
01/04/2017
30/11/2018
01/04/2017
01/10/2017
07/11/2018
07/11/2018

2015-16
meetings attended1
11
10
10
10
11
5
5
11

A total of 11 meetings were held during the 2015-16 reporting period
Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16
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Members whose terms ended during the reporting period
Name

Initially appointed

Term expires

Ms Sonia McKeiver

10/09/2012

Mr Jeffrey Healy

10/09/2012

31/12/2015 – term
expired
11/08/2015 - resigned

Type of
remuneration
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual
Annual

Period of
membership
Full year
Full year
Full year
Part year (1 month)
Part year (5 months)
Full year
Part year (6 months)
Full year
Part year (5 months)

2015-16
meetings attended1
5
1

Board remuneration
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Position

Name

Chair
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member

Ms Caterina (Kitty) Prodonovich
Ms Susan Bailey
Mr Steven Dobson
Mr Jeffrey Healy
Ms Nicolle Jenkins
Mr Anthony Masi
Ms Sonia McKeiver
Mr Allan Pendal
Ms Caroline (Ra) Stewart
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Gross actual
remuneration
26,303
10,552
11,041
1,461
4,985
11,011
5,500
10,488
4,985
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Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

Other financial disclosures

The SBDC takes out Directors and Officers Liability Insurance
through Riskcover to provide cover for members of the Board.
The Policy has an indemnity limit of $10,000,000 and for
2015/16 the SBDC contributed $6,699 towards the annual
premium with individual Board members also making a
personal contribution.

Internal audit

Corporate resources
The corporate resources team assists the SBDC to reach its
objectives and goals through:
•	financial management including budgeting and
accounting services;
•

human resource management;

•

online services management;

•

information technology infrastructure management;

•

records, library and information management services;

•	facilities management including assets, fleet,
accommodation and procurement; and
•

general administration.

The SBDC outsources its internal audit function which focuses
on the effectiveness of the key processes and controls
to meet the compliance requirements of the Financial
Management Act 2006 and applicable Treasurer’s Instructions.
The audit provides assurance to the SBDC Board and
management in relation to the quality, reliability, adequacy
and integrity of the systems of internal control, compliance
and reporting.

Governance disclosures
Unauthorised use of credit cards
Officers of the Small Business Development Corporation hold
corporate credit cards where their functions warrant usage of
this facility. Despite each cardholder being reminded of their
obligations annually under the Small Business Development
Corporation’s credit card policy, one employee inadvertently
utilised the corporate credit card for purchasing personal
theatre tickets. The matter was not referred for disciplinary
action as the Chief Finance Officer noted prompt advice and
settlement of the personal use amount, and, that the nature
of the expenditure was immaterial and characteristic of an
honest mistake.
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Agency performance continued. . .

Aggregate amount of personal use
expenditure for the reporting period
Aggregate amount of personal use
expenditure settled by the due date
(within 5 working days)
Aggregate amount of personal use
expenditure settled after the period
(after 5 working days)
Aggregate amount of personal
use expenditure outstanding at
balance date

2016
$
383
383

0

0

The SBDC collects the following:
•	Alternative dispute resolution (mediation) fees; set at $125
per party in dispute. This represents partial cost recovery
for government. The total cost of each mediation session is
generally $900 with the SBDC subsidising the difference.
•	Business Migrant State Nomination application fees; set
at $500 for a provisional business visa and $750 for a
permanent business visa. The fees represent partial cost
recovery for the processing of applications under the
Business Innovation and Investment visa program.
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The Corporation’s fees and charges are reviewed annually as
part of the budget process.

Our people
Workforce development

Pricing policies
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•	Business workshops fees; with the exception of the free
Business Basics workshop, are set at $50 per participant.

The SBDC employs a Performance Development Plan (PDP)
process to manage workforce development.
Completing individual PDPs with staff members has led to
them making a more positive contribution to the agency,
particularly in relation to:
•	The goals identified being more specific and measurable;
this in turn has contributed to staff feeling a sense of
achievement.
•	Including a capability assessment that has increased
opportunities for discussions between managers and
staff, allowing higher level goals to be explored. This
has created opportunities to improve performance and
further develop skills.
Providing feedback to staff and focussing on its impact on
motivation remains a priority for the agency.
Staff were further supported through weekly in-house
Business Insight sessions. The program aims to develop staff
knowledge about the digital environment and was well
attended throughout the year.
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Agency performance continued. . .

Staff development day
The SBDC held a whole of agency staff development day
in November, with a focus on raising cultural awareness and
team building.
Following a short classroom based presentation on Aboriginal
culture, the staff enjoyed an on country cultural learning
journey through Kings Park. The second part of the day
involved team building by undertaking a series of ‘Amazing
Race’ style challenges throughout the Perth CBD.
Staffing summary - as at June 2016

SBDC staff development day

Employee Profile
Permanent full-time
Permanent part-time
Fixed term contract
Casual
Total

2015-16
39
13
2
5
59

Reconciliation Action Plan 2015 – 2017
The SBDC’s Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) has been
developed to create awareness and understanding of the
needs, skills and contribution to the State of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander (‘Aboriginal’) business operators, and to
foster meaningful engagement across the organisation and
the broader small business sector. In line with the agency’s
overall strategic plan, the RAP further demonstrates how the
SBDC values:

•	Enterprise - through the development and empowerment
of Aboriginal owned and operated small businesses;
•	Focus - reinforcing existing and building new channels in
support of Aboriginal small business operators;
•	Independence - ensuring the SBDC is a trusted and
credible partner in supporting Aboriginal enterprise
development in WA;
•	Fairness - advocating for an economic and policy
environment where all Aboriginal small businesses can
thrive; and
•	Collaboration - actively engaging with partners to
create more inclusive strategic relationships to deliver
better outcomes and relationships for Aboriginal small
business operators.
It is important to build strong relationships between the
Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal business sectors to ensure
collaboration, recognition and promotion of business
activities and aspirations. It is envisaged that the SBDC’s role
in building relationships will create a better understanding
and acknowledgement of the similarities, legitimacy,
contribution and diversity of Aboriginal businesses within
the broader economy.
Leading by example and creating a culturally inclusive
environment increases accessibility to the SBDC’s services
and enables the agency to promote success, assist business
Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16
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Agency performance continued. . .

start-ups, ensure growth and development and raise the
profile of Aboriginal businesses across WA.

Management Act 1981 by adopting a systematic and practical
approach that places a strong emphasis on employees
receiving support from managers and human resources to
ensure they return to work as soon as possible following
injury or illness.

The SBDC met its commitments stated in the RAP for the
2015-16 financial year.
Occupational health and safety (OHS) and injury
management

The Corporation recognises that consultation,
communication and cooperation between managers and
employees are essential to maintaining a safe and healthy
workforce. The agency’s Occupational Health and Safety
Management System outlines when it is necessary to consult
with employees, including:

The SBDC is committed to ensuring operational activities are
carried out with full regard for the health, safety and welfare
of employees, contractors and the public. The agency’s
management team support this through participation in
training programs and communicating OHS matters via the
intranet. OHS is a standard agenda item at all executive
and ‘all of agency’ meetings and staff are encouraged to raise
any issues.
The SBDC ensures compliance with the injury management
requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury
Indicator

investigating incidents;

•

deciding on measures to control risks;

•

reviewing the effectiveness of controls;

•

changing work practices and procedures; and

•

planning new work or work processes.

2014-15 actual

2015-16 target

2015-16 result

Number of fatalities
Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D)

0
0

0
Maintained zero result

Lost time injury/disease severity rate

0

0
0 or 10% reduction on
previous year
0 or 10% improvement
on previous year
100%

Percentage of injured workers returned to work
within (i) 13 weeks and (ii) 26 weeks.
52
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n/a
no injured workers

Maintained zero result
n/a
no injured workers
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SBDC website
The website remains a popular source of information
about starting and operating a small business in WA. A
comprehensive review of the website was undertaken
during the year with most of the content rewritten and the
information architecture restructured to better meet visitor
needs. This has also resulted in a significant reduction in
the number of pages across the website and a subsequent
decline in visitor numbers; the latter could be due in part
to a lag in search engines referencing new content.
These major changes to the website are part of a broader,
long-term strategy in 2016-17 to redevelop the website’s
functionality, improve mobile access and develop deeper
client engagement.
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Disclosures and legal compliance
Independent auditor’s report

Auditor General
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Parliament of Western Australia
SMALL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Small Business Development Corporation.
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2016, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and
Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Small Business Development
Corporation at 30 June 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the
Treasurer’s Instructions.
Corporation’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Corporation is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Corporation determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit
be planned and performed to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Corporation’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the Corporation, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation during the year ended 30 June 2016.
Controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation are those policies and procedures established by the Corporation to ensure that the receipt,
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions.
Opinion
In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative
provisions during the year ended 30 June 2016.
Corporation’s Responsibility for Controls
The Corporation is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition
and disposal of public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions,
and other relevant written law.
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of Controls
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation based
on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls to ensure that the Corporation complies with the legislative provisions.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation of relevant controls.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Small Business Development Corporation for the year ended 30 June 2016.
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide information on outcome achievement
and service provision.
Opinion
In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the Small Business Development Corporation are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess
the Corporation’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2016.
Corporation’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Corporation is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Corporation determines necessary to ensure that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.
Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of Key Performance Indicators
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk assessments the auditor considers internal
control relevant to the Corporation’s preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of outcome achievement
and service provision.
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...
Independence
In conducting the above audits, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards,
and other relevant ethical requirements.
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the Small Business Development Corporation for the year ended 30 June 2016
included on the Corporation’s website. The Corporation’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Corporation’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on
the integrity of the Corporation’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide an
opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements
and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited
financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key performance indicators.

DON CUNNINGHAME
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL FINANCIAL AUDIT
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
24 August 2016
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...

Certification of key performance indicators
We hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Small Business Development
Corporation’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Small Business Development Corporation for the financial year ended 30 June 2016.

Kitty Prodonovich
Chair

David Eaton
Small Business Commissioner

17 August 2016
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...

Key performance indicators
The SBDC operates under the broad high level government strategic goal “to responsibly manage the State’s finances through the efficient and effective delivery of services,
encourage economic activity and reduce regulatory burdens on the private sector”.
To meet this goal, the SBDC’s mission is “to deliver and facilitate the provision of relevant, practical support to small businesses and foster the development of policy
conducive to the growth of a thriving small business sector”.
The SBDC’s desired outcome and services that link with this government goal are shown in the table below.
Government goal

Desired outcome

Services

Financial and economic responsibility:
Responsibly managing the State’s finances through the
efficient and effective delivery of services, encouraging
economic activity and reducing regulatory burdens on
the private sector.

Development of new and existing small business in
Western Australia.

Information, guidance, referral and business
development services.

In 2015-16, the SBDC achieved this desired outcome through:
The provision of specialised information, referral and business facilitation services for the effective development of enterprises in Western Australia. This included access to
justice for small businesses through the Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) service.
The following effectiveness and efficiency indicators have been developed to measure SBDC’s performance.

Effectiveness indicator
The effectiveness of the SBDC in meeting its desired outcome is measured by client surveys of the following key stakeholder groups:
•

small business owners - those already operating their own business; and

•

small business starters - those planning or contemplating operating a business in the future.
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...
Client opinions of the services provided by the SBDC
The SBDC provides a range of small business services to those in business as well as those planning on starting or buying a business. (Refer to the Report on Operations for
details of these services). The SBDC also provides core business facilitation services across the State through the provision of funding for the Business Local service which
replaced the previous Small Business Centre program effective 1 July 2015. The effectiveness of small business services is measured by surveys of those clients who have
contacted the SBDC and the Business Local service during 2015-16.
The effectiveness indicator used to measure the SBDC’s performance is subject to regular review, and, where necessary is refined to reflect the services delivered to key
client groups.
The measure reported below is based on two surveys conducted during 2015-16 of random samples of SBDC and Business Local service clients. The surveys have been
carried out by an independent market research company to ensure maximum objectivity . 1
High customer satisfaction with services has been maintained over several years with the effectiveness indicator measured in 2015-16 showing no statistically significant
shifts at the 95 per cent confidence level in comparison with the previous four years.
1

T he performance evaluation for 2015-16 where clients were contacted by telephone was undertaken by Advantage Communications and Marketing. Telephone surveys were undertaken with random
selections of clients who had directly sought information and guidance during 2015-16. 720 client surveys were completed to give a maximum standard error ratio of + / - 3.5% at the 95% confidence level.
Overall, 89% of respondents contacted agreed to participate in the survey. The valid sample for each service area was as follows:

Summary of clients surveyed as part of SBDC’s 2015-16 performance evaluation
Business operators

Business starters

Total sample

2013 -14

2014 -15

2015 -16

2013 -14

2014 -15

2015 -16

2013 -14

2014 -15

2015 -16

Small Business Services

181

197

193

83

63

72

264

260

265

Business Information Centre

30

68

72

173

133

133

203

201

205

Clients - Direct advice

60

Business Local service

149

142

141

101

108

109

250

250

250

Total

360

407

406

357

304

314

717

711

720
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...
Usefulness of the information or guidance provided
All clients surveyed were asked – “How would you rate the usefulness of the information/guidance provided to you?” 92 per cent of survey participants rated the information/
guidance provided as very or somewhat useful in 2015-16. Specifically, 65 per cent indicated that it was very useful while 27 per cent rated it as somewhat useful.
Only 7 per cent of respondents felt the information or guidance was not useful. The target for 2015-16 was 93 per cent.

Usefulness of information/guidance provided
100
90

% of client responses

80
70
60
50
40
30
20
10
0

2011-12
Very or somewhat useful

2012-13
Not useful

2013-14

2014-15

2015-16

Neither or can't say
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Efficiency indicators
Efficiency indicators relate to the level of resource inputs required to produce the output (information, guidance, referral and business development services).
Four efficiency indicators are measured. The results for each indicator together with the target for 2015-16 and comparatives from the previous four years are set out below.
Efficiency indicators
Cost for direct client contacts
Number of direct client contacts2
Cost of indirect client contacts
Number of indirect client contacts3
Cost of Business Local service4
Number of Business Local service client contacts
Policy advice5

2015-16
target
$20.99
$2.75
$124.08
$1,297,538

2015-16
actual
$6,227,282
$20.59
302,413
$235,669
$ 3.05
77,293
$4,667,352
$139.47
33,464
$1,184,508

2014-15

2013-14

2012-13

2011-12

$19.24

$23.36

$28.71

$32.56

$2.44

$2.65

$2.64

$3.28

$119.40

$107.11

$95.62

$96.20

$1,182,935

$1,270,455

$1,070,579

$1,487,976

The target for 2015-16 is as published in the 2015-16 Budget Statements (Budget Paper No 2 Volume 2) Page 747.
2

 irect client contacts have contacted the SBDC for guidance or information either by a personal visit, by telephone, have attended a SBDC workshop, downloaded a licence pack from the Business Licence
D
Finder, or have visited SBDC websites for four minutes or more. The cost per direct client contact is greater than the 2014-15 result but marginally lower than the 2015-16 target due to a reduction in the number
of clients visiting the SBDC websites, partially offset by a reduction in expenditure.

3

I ndirect client contacts are exposed to a range of advisory, information, referral and business services that would impact on their growth and business development. It includes those that have attended
Expos, Forums or Award Functions which SBDC has organised, has been the major sponsor where the focus has been on business development, or where an SBDC representative has given an address on small
business matters. Indirect client contacts also include website visits of between two and four minutes. The increase in the cost of indirect client contacts against the result achieved in 2014-15 and the target for
2015-16 is due mainly to a reduction in the number of indirect clients, particularly website visitors.

4

 usiness Local service client contacts. The Business Local service replaced the Small Business Centre (SBC) program effective from 1 July 2015 and has recorded a total of 33,464 client assists. The increase in
B
cost per Business Local service client contact against the 2015-16 target is due to the greater focus the new Business Local service places on complex business advice and support. As a consequence the contact
takes more time, but delivers greater value to the client. The new program has delivered greater economic value to the state.

5

Policy advice includes policy and regulatory submissions, industry liaison, small business sector advocacy, investigative research and ministerial correspondence. The cost of policy advice includes salaries and
related staffing costs and all other direct costs associated with the Policy and Advocacy section of the SBDC, together with a notional allocation of corporate overheads. The reduction in the cost of policy advice
against the 2015-16 target is due mainly to vacant positions and staff leave during the year.
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...

Certification of financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
The accompanying financial statements of the Small Business Development Corporation have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the
Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2016 and the
financial position as at 30 June 2016.
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

KITTY PRODONOVICH
CHAIR

DAVID EATON
SMALL BUSINESS COMMISSIONER

RAY BUTTSWORTH
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

17 August 2016
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Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Communications expense
Maintenance expense
Grants and subsidies
Other expenses
Total cost of services
Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Grants and contributions
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Total Revenue
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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6
7
8

9
10

11
12
13
14

2016
$

2015
$

5,783,289
2,614,531
129,699
92,529
36,270
3,530,097
128,396
12,314,811

6,086,808
3,086,905
156,611
109,772
47,504
3,773,576
201,244
13,462,420

286,000
70,000
49,585
170,861
576,446
576,446
11,738,365

290,841
0
43,269
36,675
370,785
370,785
13,091,635

12,005,000
176,972
256,000
12,437,972
699,607
699,607

13,027,000
184,327
664,000
13,875,327
783,692
783,692
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2016
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services
Furniture, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Other current liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
TOTAL EQUITY
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note

2016
$

2015
$

16,28
17,28
18
19
20

2,341,104
88,455
100,748
60,000
226,298
2,816,605

1,932,359
56,422
208,482
60,000
231,907
2,489,170

19
21
22

484,000
117,949
131,299
733,248
3,549,853

389,000
190,573
69,222
648,795
3,137,965

24
25
26

73,234
1,192,610
10,000
1,275,844

263,460
1,346,304
70,000
1,679,764

25

280,709
280,709
1,556,553
1,993,300

224,508
224,508
1,904,272
1,233,693

1,298,885
694,415
1,993,300

1,238,885
(5,192)
1,233,693
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Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note

Balance at 1 July 2014
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Balance at 30 June 2015
Balance at 1 July 2015
Total comprehensive income for the period
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations
Balance at 30 June 2016
The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Contributed
equity

Total
equity

$

Accumulated
surplus/
(deficit)
$

1,178,885
0

(788,884)
783,692

390,001
783,692

60,000
1,238,885

0
(5,192)

60,000
1,233,693

1,238,885
0

(5,192)
699,607

1,233,693
699,607

60,000
1,298,885

0
694,415

60,000
1,993,300
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Capital appropriations
Holding account drawdown
Royalties for Regions Fund
Net cash provided by State Government
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
Communication expense
Maintenance expense
Grants and subsidies
GST payments on purchases
Other payments
Receipts
User charges and fees
Grants and contributions
Interest received
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD
The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2016
$

2015
$

11,850,000
60,000
60,000
256,000
12,226,000

12,932,000
60,000
60,000
664,000
13,716,000

(6,051,462)
(2,450,305)
(92,298)
(25,102)
(3,531,243)
(622,495)
(152,690)

(5,932,765)
(3,042,670)
(107,081)
(38,340)
(3,772,431)
(697,373)
(316,059)

28

286,000
70,000
46,547
24,448
649,843
182,687
(11,666,070)

290,841
0
41,658
9,713
669,386
89,287
(12,805,834)

28

(119,152)
(119,152)
440,778
1,988,781
2,429,559

(180,753)
(180,753)
729,413
1,259,368
1,988,781
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Small Business Development Corporation’s (the “Corporation”) financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2016 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB).
The Corporation has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates.
Early adoption of standards
The Corporation cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements.
Partial exemption permitting early adoption of AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities has been granted.
Aside from AASB 2015-7, there has been no early adoption of any other Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Corporation for the
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2016.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies
(a) General statement
The Corporation is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary
application, disclosure, format and wording.
The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements.
(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention and are presented in Australian dollars.
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.
Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Corporation’s accounting policies
resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Corporation only.
(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure
of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as
equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have
been credited directly to Contributed Equity.
The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are
non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.
(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:
Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably.
Provision of services
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.
Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.
Service appropriations
Service appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the Corporation gains control of the appropriated funds. The Corporation gains control of appropriated
funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Corporation obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably
determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Corporation obtains control over the funds. The Corporation obtains control of the funds at the
time the funds are deposited into the Corporation’s bank account.
Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. This includes gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets.
(f) Furniture, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of furniture, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of furniture,
plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items
which are significant in total).
Initial recognition and measurement
Furniture, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. For items of furniture, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the
date of acquisition.
Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the historical cost model is used for the measurement of all items of furniture, plant and equipment where they are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:
Computing equipment - 3 to 4 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment - 5 years
(g) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. Cost incurred below the threshold is
immediately expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis.
All intangible assets controlled by the Corporation have a finite useful life and zero residual value.
The expected useful lives for software are 3 to 4 years.
Computer Software
Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.
(h) Impairment of assets
Furniture, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment,
the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount
and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Corporation is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change
in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any
indication of impairment.
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.
Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference
to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end
of each reporting period.
(i) Leases
The Corporation holds operating lease arrangements for the rent of the motor vehicles. Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the
pattern of benefits derived from the leased vehicles. No finance lease is held by the Corporation.
(j) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Corporation has two categories of financial instrument:
- Receivables; and
- Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
Financial Assets
- Cash and cash equivalents
- Restricted cash and cash equivalents
- Receivables
- Amounts receivable for services
Financial Liabilities
- Payables
- Other current liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the
effect of discounting is not material.
(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.
(l) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 24 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end.
The Corporation considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.
(m) Amounts receivable for services (holding account)
The Corporation receives income from the State Government partly in cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable). The accrued amount appropriated is accessible on the
emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.
(n) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and
any receivables identified as uncollectable are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence
that the Corporation will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(o) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Corporation becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is
equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.
(p) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.
Provisions - employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period. An actuarial assessment of annual leave and long service leave
had been undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers Securities Limited at 30 June 2016 using the present value of expected future payments.
Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long term employee benefits’.
The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply
at the time of settlement.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation
contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period
on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Corporation does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end
of the reporting period.
Long service leave
Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore recognised and measured at the present value of amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation
contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period
on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Corporation does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Corporation has an unconditional right
to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
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Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Sick leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it is probable that sick leave paid in the future will be greater than the entitlement that will accrue in the future.
Past history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that
existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick leave entitlements is recognised. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income for this leave as it is taken.
Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The
provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current
provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time.
Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10 weeks leave per calendar year. The provision
recognises the value of salary set aside for employees and is measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative
requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and implementation dates.
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined
benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing
members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The Corporation makes contributions to GESB or other fund
providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to these accumulation schemes
extinguish the Corporation’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the
concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Corporation to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability.
The Corporation has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members
who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Corporation to the GESB.
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Provisions - other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment
to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Corporation’s ‘Employee benefits expense’. The related
liability is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.
(q) Superannuation expense
Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income and comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions),
the WSS, the GESBS or other superannuation funds.
(r) Services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Corporation would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of those services that can be
reliably measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received.
Services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(s) Comparative Figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.

Note 3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the financial statements. The Corporation evaluates these judgements regularly.
Operating lease commitment
The Corporation has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements and has determined that the lessors retain substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
Accordingly, these leases have been classified as operating leases.

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Annual Leave and Long Service Leave
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Corporation’s annual leave and long service leave provisions include expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee
retention rates and expected future payments. Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the annual leave and long service leave provisions.
Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

75

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates
Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Corporation has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective, or adopted, for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2015 that impacted
on the Corporation.
AASB 2013-9

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments
Part C of this Standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of AASB 9 was subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018
by AASB 2014-1. The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2014-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) – Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]
This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2010), arising from the
issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2014. The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9.

AASB 2015-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality
This Standard completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, allowing that Standard
to effectively be withdrawn. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 13]
This Standard relieves not-for-profit public sector entities from the reporting burden associated with various disclosures required by AASB 13 for assets within
the scope of AASB 116 that are held primarily for their current service potential rather than to generate future net cash inflows. It has no financial impact.
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Corporation cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements or
by an exemption from TI 1101. By virtue of a limited exemption, the Corporation has early adopted AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of
Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. Where applicable, the Corporation plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their application date.
Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
AASB 9

Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to
accounting treatments.

1 Jan 2018

The mandatory application date of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 after being amended by AASB 2012-6, AASB 2013-9
and AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards. The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact of the Standard.
AASB 15

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This Standard establishes the principles that the Corporation shall apply to report useful information to users of financial
statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer.
The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 16

Leases
This Standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with
a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. The Corporation has not yet determined the application
or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2019

AASB 1057

Application of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other Standard (and Interpretation), grouped where they are the same.
There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)
Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
AASB 2010-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118,
120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]
This Standard makes consequential amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of
issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
1 Jan 2018

The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2012-6 and AASB 2014-1 to 1 January 2018.
The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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AASB 2014-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 and consequential amendments to other Standards. It has not yet been
assessed by the Corporation to determine the application or potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations [AASB 1 & 11]
The Corporation establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its objectives and does not routinely acquire interests in Joint Operations.
Therefore, there is no financial impact on application of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-4

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation
[AASB 116 & 138]
The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the Small Business Development Corporation as depreciation and
amortisation is not determined by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to consumption of future economic benefits.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising
from the issuance of AASB 15. The mandatory application date of this Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-8 to 1 January
2018. The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2014-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014)
This Standard gives effect to the consequential amendments to Australian Accounting Standards (including Interpretations) arising
from the issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
the Standard.

1 Jan 2018

Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates (continued)

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)
AASB 2014-9

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128]
This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially amends AASB 1 and AASB 128, to allow entities to use the equity method of
accounting for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements. The Corporation has
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2014-10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture [AASB 10 & 128]
This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 128 to address an inconsistency between the requirements in AASB 10 and those in
AASB 128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-1

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Annual Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012–2014 Cycle
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 137 & 140]
These amendments arise from the issuance of International Financial Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2012–2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial corrections. The Corporation has determined that the application of the
Standard has no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 1049]
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. Specifically, the
Standard proposes narrow-focus amendments to address some of the concerns expressed about existing presentation and
disclosure requirements and to ensure entities are able to use judgement when applying a Standard in determining what
information to disclose in their financial statements. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2015-6

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities
[AASB 10, 124 & 1049]
The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public sector entities. Implementation
guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. There is no financial impact.

1 Jul 2016
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Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after

AASB 2015-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of AASB 15
This Standard amends the mandatory effective date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers so
that AASB 15 is required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 instead of 1 January 2017.
The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 15.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2015-10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 & 128
This Standard defers the mandatory effective date (application date) of amendments to AASB 10 & 128 that were originally made
in AASB 2014-10 so that the amendments are required to be applied for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018 instead of 1 January 2016. The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 2014-10.

1 Jan 2016

AASB 2016-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 107
This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flows
and non-cash changes. There is no financial impact.

1 Jan 2017

AASB 2016-3

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clarifications to AASB 15
This Standard clarifies identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, timing of recognising revenue
from granting a licence, and, provides further transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Corporation has not yet determined the
application or the potential impact.

1 Jan 2018

AASB 2016-4

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Recoverable Amount of Non-Cash-Generating Specialised Assets
of Not-for-Profit Entities
This Standard clarifies that the recoverable amount of primarily non-cash-generating assets of not-for-profit entities, which are
typically specialised in nature and held for continuing use of their service capacity, is expected to be materially the same as fair
value determined under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the
potential impact.

1 Jan 2017

Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
2016
$

2015
$

5,253,589

5,523,994

529,700

562,814

5,783,289

6,086,808

1,115,126

1,083,774

83,442

54,772

Note 6. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a)
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)
(a)

Includes fringe benefit tax, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component.

(b)

Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESBS and other eligible funds.

Employment on-costs expenses such as payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance and other employee related expenses are included at note 10
‘Other expenses’. Employment on-costs liability is included at note 25 ‘Provisions’.

Note 7. Supplies and services
Premises - accommodation expenses
Media, advertising and promotions
Travel and accommodation
Professional services
Sponsorships
Other services
Consumable supplies
Royalties for Region Fund payments

81,287

75,352

710,371

784,914

200

81,217

250,919

256,495

88,599

81,914

284,587

668,467

2,614,531

3,086,905
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$

2015
$

Computing equipment

46,080

42,114

Furniture, fittings and equipment

26,544

26,544

72,624

68,658

57,075

87,953

57,075

87,953

129,699

156,611

Note 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation

Total depreciation
Amortisation
Intangible assets - software
Total amortisation
Total depreciation and amortisation

Note 9. Grants and subsidies
Business Local service - Operational grants

3,530,097

3,773,576

3,530,097

3,773,576

(418)

136,773

Other employee related expenses (b)

84,049

19,986

Audit fees (c)

44,765

42,985

0

1,500

128,396

201,244

Note 10. Other expenses
Employment on-costs (a)

Write off - bad debt
(a) 	Includes payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance. The on-costs liabilities associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave
liabilities are included at note 25 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and
are not included in employment on-costs.
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(b)

Includes staff recruitment, staff training and staff amenities.

(c)

See also note 29 ‘Remuneration of auditors’.
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2016
$

2015
$

58,954

45,682

222,500

236,750

4,546

8,409

286,000

290,841

70,000

0

70,000

0

49,585

43,269

49,585

43,269

15,000

20,000

Note 11. User charges and fees
Workshop income
Business Migration visa application fees
Fees for mediation services

Note 12. Grants and contributions
Aboriginal Business Development - Ancillary Services
Funding from the Department of Regional Development for the delivery of restricted ancillary services to support the proposed External Adviser (Broker)
role. The proposed role is planned for implementation over two years from 2015/16 as part of the $400,000 Procurement Reform Package element of
the $2.3 million Aboriginal Governance and Leadership Development Program (AGLDP). At 30 June 2016, none of the grant funds has been expended.

Note 13. Interest Revenue
Bank interest income

Note 14. Other revenue
Sponsorships
Miscellaneous

155,861

16,675

170,861

36,675
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2016
$

2015
$

12,005,000

13,027,000

1,925

10,109

175,047

174,218

176,972

184,327

256,000

664,000

12,437,972

13,875,327

1,840,854

1,432,109

500,000

500,000

250

250

2,341,104

1,932,359

Note 15. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a)
Services received free of charge from other State Government agencies
during the period:
Department of the Attorney General
Department of Finance
Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Community Services Account (b)

(a)	Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset).
The receivable (holding account) comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liabilities
during the year.
(b)	This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs in
WA regional areas.

Note 16. Cash and cash equivalents
Bank account
Cash investments - investment with Department of Treasury
Cash on hand
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2016
$

2015
$

0

31,797

Royalties for Regions Fund (a)

18,455

24,625

Funding from Department of Regional Development for Aboriginal Business Development - Ancillary Services

70,000

0

88,455

56,422

Trade and other debtors

12,771

70,140

Net GST recoverable

72,498

125,901

Accrued interest

15,479

12,441

100,748

208,482

60,000

60,000

484,000

389,000

544,000

449,000

Note 17. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Funding from Department of Agriculture and Food for the Drought Relief program

(a)

Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

Note 18. Receivables

The Corporation does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as security for receivables.

Note 19. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
Current
Non-current
Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement
or payment of leave liability.
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2016
$

2015
$

226,298

231,907

226,298

231,907

197,032

220,402

(158,715)

(136,005)

38,317

84,397

Furniture, fittings and equipment at cost

132,720

132,720

Accumulated depreciation

(53,088)

(26,544)

79,632

106,176

117,949

190,573

84,397

78,478

0

48,033

Depreciation

(46,080)

(42,114)

Carrying amount at end of period

38,317

84,397

106,176

0

0

132,720

Depreciation

(26,544)

(26,544)

Carrying amount at end of period

79,632

106,176

Note 20. Other current assets
Prepayments

Note 21. Furniture, plant and equipment
Computing equipment at cost
Accumulated depreciation

Reconciliations:
Computing Equipment
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions

Furniture, fittings and equipment
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions
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$

2015
$

Computer software at cost

571,844

452,692

Accumulated amortisation

(440,545)

(383,470)

131,299

69,222

69,222

157,175

Note 22. Intangible assets

Reconciliations:
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period
Additions

119,152

0

Amortisation expense

(57,075)

(87,953)

131,299

69,222

Carrying amount at end of period

Note 23. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to furniture, plant and equipment and intangible assets at 30 June 2016.
The Corporation held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there
were no intangible assets not yet available for use.
All surplus assets at 30 June 2016 have been written-off.

Note 24. Payables
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Accrued salaries

458

458

72,776

105,751

0

157,251

73,234

263,460

Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

87

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
2016
$

2015
$

Annual leave (a)

341,998

380,078

Purchased leave

1,659

(4,672)

842,465

939,741

0

23,940

1,186,122

1,339,087

6,488

7,217

6,488

7,217

1,192,610

1,346,304

279,171

223,281

279,171

223,281

1,538

1,227

1,538

1,227

280,709

224,508

Note 25. Provisions
Current
Employee benefits provision

Long service leave (b)
Deferred salary scheme (c)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b)
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)
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2016
$

2015
$

285,924

323,884

56,074

56,194

341,998

380,078

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

354,614

416,701

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

767,022

746,321

1,121,636

1,163,022

0

23,940

0

23,940

Carrying amount at start of period

8,444

72,366

(Reversals of ) provisions recognised

(418)

(63,922)

Carrying amount at end of period

8,026

8,444

Note 25. Provisions (continued)
(a)	Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period

(b)	Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after
the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

(c)	Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months
after the end of the reporting period. Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:
Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period

(d)	The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation
insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount
(finance cost), is disclosed in note 10 ‘Other expenses’.
Movements in other provisions
Movements in other provision during the period, other than employee benefits, is set out below:
Employment on-cost provision
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2016
$

2015
$

10,000

70,000

10,000

70,000

1,238,885

1,178,885

60,000

60,000

60,000

60,000

1,298,885

1,238,885

(5,192)

(788,884)

Note 26. Other Current Liabilities
Unearned revenue
Unearned revenue for 2016 being sponsorship income for the 2016 Western Australian Regional Small Business Awards.

Note 27. Equity
The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Corporation on behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in
the net assets of the Corporation.
Contributed equity
Balance at start of period
Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation
Total contributions by owners
Balance at end of period
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
Balance at start of period
Result for the period
Balance at end of period
Total equity at end of period
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2016
$

2015
$

2,341,104

1,932,359

88,455

56,422

2,429,559

1,988,781

(11,738,365)

(13,091,635)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8 'Depreciation and amortisation expense')

129,699

156,611

Services received free of charge (note 15 'Income from State Government')

176,972

184,327

107,734

(65,587)

5,609

(110,673)

Note 28. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as
follows:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 16 ‘Cash and cash equivalents’)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 17 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’)

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in operating activities
Net cost of services
Non-cash items:

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables
(Increase)/Decrease in other current assets
(Decrease) in payables

(190,226)

(28,401)

Increase/(Decrease) in provisions

(97,493)

79,524

Increase/(Decrease) in other current liabilities

(60,000)

70,000

(11,666,070)

(12,805,834)

Net cash used in operating activities
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2016
$

2015
$

27,800

27,400

27,800

27,400

2016

2015

Note 29. Remuneration of auditor
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:
- Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key performance indicators
The amounts disclosed above differ from the amounts recognised in note 10 ‘Other expenses’ and represents the totals of interim and final audit fees for
the current year financial statement.

Note 30. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers
Remuneration of members of the accountable authority
The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the
financial year, fall within the following bands are:
$0

- $10,000

4

6

$10,001

- $20,000

4

1

$20,001

- $30,000

1

1

$

$

86,326

83,917

86,326

83,917

Base remuneration and superannuation
Total remuneration of members of the accountable authority
Total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Corporation in respect of members of the accountable authority.
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Note 30. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and senior officers (continued)
Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation,
non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:
2016

2015

$160,001 - $170,000

1

1

$170,001 - $180,000

1

1

$180,001 - $190,000

1

0

$190,001 - $200,000

0

1

$290,001 - $300,000

1

1

$

$

784,038

756,803

Annual leave and long service leave accruals

22,940

51,130

Other benefits

14,828

18,261

821,806

826,194

Base remuneration and superannuation

Total remuneration of senior officers
Total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Corporation in respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as
members of the accountable authority.
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2016
$

2015
$

744,385

727,357

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

2,925,571

2,831,081

Later than 5 years

2,827,561

3,436,649

6,497,517

6,995,087

41,920

0

Within 1 year

3,637,750

3,581,848

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years

3,668,000

7,254,000

7,305,750

10,835,848

Note 31. Commitments
The commitments below are exclusive of GST.
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments for motor vehicles and office accomodation are payable as follows:
Within 1 year

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitment, being the provision of services for the upgrade of the Client Relationship Management System is payable as follows:
Within 1 year
Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments, being provision of venue and meals for the 2016 Western Australian Regional Small Business Awards and advisory
services for the Business Local WA Program contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are payable as follows:

Note 32. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
No contingent liabilities and contingent assets exist as at 30 June 2016.
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Note 33. Financial Instruments
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Corporation are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables. The Corporation has limited exposure to
financial risks. The Corporation’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Corporation’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Corporation.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets as shown in the
table at note 33(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 18 ‘Receivables’.
Credit risk associated with the Corporation’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than
government, the Corporation trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Corporation has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Corporation’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.
At the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Corporation is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corporation is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal
course of business.
The Corporation has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available
to meet its commitments.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Corporation’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.
The Corporation does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. The Corporation has no borrowings and its exposure to market risk for changes in
interest rates relate primarily to cash and cash equivalents which are interest bearing as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 33(c) ‘Financial instrument disclosures’.
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2016
$

2015
$

2,341,104

1,932,359

88,455

56,422

572,250

531,581

73,234

263,460

Note 33. Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables (i)
Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 33. Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk
The following table discloses the Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets. The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial
assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Corporation.
The Corporation does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.
Ageing analysis of financial assets
Past due but not impaired
Carrying
amount
$
2016
Cash at bank
Cash investments
Cash on hand
Restricted cash at bank
Receivables (a)
Amount receivable for services

2015
Cash at bank
Cash investments
Cash on hand
Restricted cash at bank
Receivables (a)
Amount receivable for services
(a)

Not past
due and not
impaired
$

Up to 1
month
$

1-3 months
$

3 months to
1 year
$

Impaired
financial
assets
$

1,840,854
500,000
250
88,455
28,250
544,000
3,001,809

1,840,854
500,000
250
88,455
17,250
544,000
2,990,809

0
0
0
0
11,000
0
11,000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1,432,109
500,000
250
56,422
82,581
449,000
2,520,362

1,432,109
500,000
250
56,422
82,581
449,000
2,520,362

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 33. Financial Instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Corporation’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes
interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure

Maturity dates

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Carrying
amount

Variable
interest rate

Non-interest
bearing

Nominal
amount

Up to 1
month

3 months to
1 year

1-5
years

%

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

2016
Financial Assets
Cash at bank

2.27

1,840,854

1,840,854

Cash investments

2.27

500,000
250

Cash on hand
Restricted cash at bank
Receivables (a)
Amount receivable for services

2.27

0

1,840,854

1,840,854

0

0

500,000

0

500,000

500,000

0

0

0

250

250

250

0

0

88,455

88,455

0

88,455

88,455

0

0

28,250

0

28,250

28,250

28,250

0

0

544,000

0

544,000

544,000

0

60,000

484,000

3,001,809

2,429,309

572,500

3,001,809

2,457,809

60,000

484,000

73,234

0

73,234

73,234

73,234

0

0

73,234

0

73,234

73,234

73,234

0

0

Financial Liabilities
Payables

98

Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 33. Financial Instruments (continued)
Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Interest rate exposure

Maturity dates

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

Carrying
amount

Variable
interest rate

Non-interest
bearing

Nominal
amount

Up to 1
month

3 months to
1 year

1-5
years

%

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

2015
Financial Assets
Cash at bank

2.70

1,432,109

1,432,109

0

1,432,109

1,432,109

0

0

Cash investments

2.70

500,000

500,000

0

500,000

500,000

0

0

250

0

250

250

250

0

0

56,422

56,422

0

56,422

56,422

0

0

82,581

0

82,581

82,581

82,581

0

0

Cash on hand
Restricted cash at bank
Receivables (a)
Amount receivable for services

2.70

449,000

0

449,000

449,000

0

60,000

389,000

2,520,362

1,988,531

531,831

2,520,362

2,071,362

60,000

389,000

263,460

0

263,460

263,460

263,460

0

0

263,460

0

263,460

263,460

263,460

0

0

Financial Liabilities
Payables
(a)

The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Note 33. Financial Instruments (continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and
equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.
-100 basis points

+100 basis points

Carrying
amount

Surplus

Equity

Surplus

Equity

$

$

$

$

$

1,840,854

(18,409)

(18,409)

18,409

18,409

500,000

(5,000)

(5,000)

5,000

5,000

88,455

(885)

(885)

885

885

(24,293)

(24,293)

24,293

24,293

1,432,109

(14,321)

(14,321)

14,321

14,321

500,000

(5,000)

(5,000)

5,000

5,000

56,422

(564)

(564)

564

564

(19,885)

(19,885)

19,885

19,885

2016
Financial Assets
Cash at bank
Cash investments
Restricted cash at bank

2015
Financial Assets
Cash at bank
Cash investments
Restricted cash at bank

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable
approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes.
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Note 34. Explanatory Statement
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2016, and between the actual results for 2016 and 2015 are shown below. Narratives are provided for selected major
variances, which are generally greater than:
a)
5% and $269,000 for the Statements of Comprehensive Income and Cash Flows; and
b) 5% and $46,000 for the Statement of Financial Position

Variance
Note
Statement of Comprehensive Income
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense
Supplies and services
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Communications expense
Maintenance expense
Grants and subsidies
Other expenses
Total cost of services

1
2,A

Original
Budget
2016

Actual
2016

$

$

6,214,000
3,534,000
140,000
145,000
57,000
3,530,000
176,000
13,796,000

5,783,289
2,614,531
129,699
92,529
36,270
3,530,097
128,396
12,314,811

Actual
2015

Variance
between
estimate
and actual

Variance
between
actual
results for
2016 and
2015

$

$

$

6,086,808
3,086,905
156,611
109,772
47,504
3,773,576
201,244
13,462,420

(430,711)
(919,469)
(10,301)
(52,471)
(20,730)
97
(47,604)
(1,481,189)

(303,519)
(472,374)
(26,912)
(17,243)
(11,234)
(243,479)
(72,848)
(1,147,609)
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Note 34. Explanatory Statement (continued)

Variance
Note
Income
Revenue
User charges and fees
Grants and contributions
Interest revenue
Other revenue
Total Revenue
Total income other than income from State Government
NET COST OF SERVICES
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Original
Budget
2016

Actual
2016

$

$

Actual
2015

Variance
between
estimate
and actual

Variance
between
actual
results for
2016 and
2015

$

$

$

252,000
0
30,000
0
282,000

286,000
70,000
49,585
170,861
576,446

290,841
0
43,269
36,675
370,785

34,000
70,000
19,585
170,861
294,446

(4,841)
70,000
6,316
134,186
205,661

282,000
13,514,000

576,446
11,738,365

370,785
13,091,635

294,446
(1,775,635)

205,661
(1,353,270)
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Note 34. Explanatory Statement (continued)

Variance
Note
Income from State Government
Service appropriation
Services received free of charge
Royalties for Regions Fund
Total income from State Government
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD

B
3,C

Original
Budget
2016

Actual
2016

$

$

Actual
2015

Variance
between
estimate
and actual

Variance
between
actual
results for
2016 and
2015

$

$

$

12,005,000
190,000
1,256,000
13,451,000
(63,000)

12,005,000
176,972
256,000
12,437,972
699,607

13,027,000
184,327
664,000
13,875,327
783,692

0
(13,028)
(1,000,000)
(1,013,028)
762,607

(1,022,000)
(7,355)
(408,000)
(1,437,355)
(84,085)

(63,000)

699,607

783,692

762,607

(84,085)

Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives
1)	Employee benefits expense underspent by $0.43 million (6.9%) due to unfilled vacancies and staff on maternity leave, secondment and leave without pay.
This is further exacerbated by the Treasury imposed recruitment freeze across the public sector that ended on May 12, 2016.
2)	Supplies and services expense underspent by $0.92 million (26.0%) mainly due to the discontinuation of the Royalties for Regions - Regional Buy Local Initiatives Stage 3.
3)	Royalties for Regions Fund income below estimates by $1 million (79.6%) due to the discontinuation of the Royalties for Regions - Regional Buy Local Initiatives Stage 3.
Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives
A)	Supplies and services expense decreased by $0.47 million (15.3%) mainly due to the finalisation of the Royalties for Regions - Regional Buy Local Initiatives Stage 2.
B)	Service appropriation decreased by $1.02 million (7.8%) mainly due to the discontinuation of funding for the Aboriginal Business program and a reduction in funding to the
Business Local program. In addition, the Corporation returned $0.3 million to the Consolidated Account as a result of payroll tax exemption.
C)	Royalties for Regions Fund income decreased by $0.41 million (61.4%) mainly due to the finalisation of the Royalties for Regions - Regional Buy Local Initiatives Stage 2.
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Note 34. Explanatory Statement (continued)

Variance
Note
Statement of Financial Position
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Amounts receivable for services
Other current assets
Total Current Assets
Non-Current Assets
Amounts receivable for services
Furniture, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Non-Current Assets
TOTAL ASSETS
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4,D
E
5

F
6,G
H

Original
Budget
2016

Actual
2016

$

$

Actual
2015

Variance
between
estimate
and actual

Variance
between
actual
results for
2016 and
2015

$

$

$

1,042,000
102,000
122,000
60,000
104,000
1,430,000

2,341,104
88,455
100,748
60,000
226,298
2,816,605

1,932,359
56,422
208,482
60,000
231,907
2,489,170

1,299,104
(13,545)
(21,252)
0
122,298
1,386,605

408,745
32,033
(107,734)
0
(5,609)
327,435

484,000
188,000
177,000
849,000
2,279,000

484,000
117,949
131,299
733,248
3,549,853

389,000
190,573
69,222
648,795
3,137,965

0
(70,051)
(45,701)
(115,752)
1,270,853

95,000
(72,624)
62,077
84,453
411,888
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Note 34. Explanatory Statement (continued)

Variance
Note
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Other current liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-Current Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Contributed equity
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)
TOTAL EQUITY

Original
Budget
2016

Actual
2016

$

$

Actual
2015

Variance
between
estimate
and actual

Variance
between
actual
results for
2016 and
2015

$

$

$

7,I
8,J
K

441,000
1,113,000
0
1,554,000

73,234
1,192,610
10,000
1,275,844

263,460
1,346,304
70,000
1,679,764

(367,766)
79,610
10,000
(278,156)

(190,226)
(153,694)
(60,000)
(403,920)

L

300,000
300,000
1,854,000

280,709
280,709
1,556,553

224,508
224,508
1,904,272

(19,291)
(19,291)
(297,447)

56,201
56,201
(347,719)

425,000

1,993,300

1,233,693

1,568,300

759,607

1,299,000
(874,000)
425,000

1,298,885
694,415
1,993,300

1,238,885
(5,192)
1,233,693

(115)
1,568,415
1,568,300

60,000
699,607
759,607
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Note 34. Explanatory Statement (continued)
Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives
4)	Cash and cash equivalents exceeded estimates by $1.30 million (124.7%) mainly due to additional income received from unutilised 2014/15 Small Business Centre grant funding
together with salary savings resulting from the recruitment freeze.
5)	Other current assets exceeded estimates by $0.12 million (117.6%) as a result of an increase in the number and value of prepayments including office accomodation and
Awards sponsorships.
6)	Furniture, plant and equipment below estimates by $0.07 million (37.3%) due to delays in the purchase of computer equipment. Additional depreciation expense also contributed to a
reduction in the overall value of the furniture, plant and equipment asset.
7)	Payables below estimates by $0.37 million (83.4%) due mainly to an overall decrease in accrued expenses and no accrued salary recognised for the financial year, as the pay date for the
last pay period conincided with the end of the financial year.
8)	Current provisions exceeded estimates by $0.08 million (7.2%) due to an increase in long service leave provision relating to salary cost escalation and the transfer from non-current to
current provisions as the leave liabilities fall due within 12 months.
Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives
D)	Cash and cash equivlaents increased by $0.41 million (21.2%) due to additional income received from unutilised 2014/15 Small Business Centre grant funding together with salary
savings resulting from the recruitment freeze.
E)	Receivables decreased by $0.11 million (51.7%) due to a reduction in trade and other debtors with funding received in 2015/16 from the Department of Regional Development for the
delivery of restricted ancillary services and a decrease in GST receivable due to an overall reduction in spending during the year.
F)	Amount receivable for services increased by $0.09 million (24.4%) due to an increase in the accrued amount appropriated to cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.
G)	Furniture, plant and equipment decreased by $0.07 million (38.1%) due to delays in the purchase of office and computer equipment. Additional depreciation expense also contributed
to a reduction in the overall value of the furniture, plant and equipment asset.
H)	Intangible assets increased by $0.06 million (89.7%) due to system upgrades which include Records Manager (TRIM), Business Licence Finder and Client Relationship
Management system.
I)	Payables decreased by $0.19 million (72.2%) due mainly to an overall decrease in accrued expenses and no accrued salary recognised for the financial year, as the pay date for the last
pay period conincided with the end of the financial year.
J)
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Current provisions decreased by $0.15 million (11.4%) due to staff resignations and staff clearing or cashing out their leave balances.
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Note 34. Explanatory Statement (continued)
K)	Other current liabilities decreased by $0.06 million (85.7%) mainly due to the realisation of unearned revenue from Department of Regional Development for the delivery of restricted
ancillary services to support the external adviser (broker) role.
L)	Non-current provisions increased by $0.06 million (25.0%) due to an increase in long service leave provision including salary cost escalation.

Variance
Note
Statement of Cash Flows
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation
Capital appropriation
Holding account drawdown
Royalties for Regions Fund
Net cash provided by State Government
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits
Supplies and services
Communication expense
Maintenance expense
Grants and subsidies
GST payments on purchases
Other payments

M

9,N

10,O

Original
Budget
2016

Actual
2016

$

$

Actual
2015

Variance
between
estimate
and actual

Variance
between
actual
results for
2016 and
2015

$

$

$

11,850,000
60,000
60,000
1,256,000
13,226,000

11,850,000
60,000
60,000
256,000
12,226,000

12,932,000
60,000
60,000
664,000
13,716,000

0
0
0
(1,000,000)
(1,000,000)

(1,082,000)
0
0
(408,000)
(1,490,000)

(6,166,000)
(3,579,000)
(145,000)
(57,000)
(3,530,000)
(620,000)
(177,000)

(6,051,462)
(2,450,305)
(92,298)
(25,102)
(3,531,243)
(622,495)
(152,690)

(5,932,765)
(3,042,670)
(107,081)
(38,340)
(3,772,431)
(697,373)
(316,059)

114,538
1,128,695
52,702
31,898
(1,243)
(2,495)
24,310

(118,697)
592,365
14,783
13,238
241,188
74,878
163,369

Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2015-16

107

CONTENTS

OVERVIEW OF
AGENCY

EXECUTIVE
SUMMARY

AGENCY
PERFORMANCE

DISCLOSURES
AND LEGAL
COMPLIANCE

SIGNIFICANT
ISSUES IMPACTING
THE AGENCY

APPENDIX

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016
Note 34. Explanatory Statement (continued)

Variance
Note
Receipts
User charges and fees
Grants and contributions
Interest received
GST receipts on sales
GST receipts from taxation authority
Other receipts
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD
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Actual
2015

Variance
between
estimate
and actual

Variance
between
actual
results for
2016 and
2015

$

$

$

$

252,000
0
30,000
10,000
610,000
0
(13,372,000)

286,000
70,000
46,547
24,448
649,843
182,687
(11,666,070)

290,841
0
41,658
9,713
669,386
89,287
(12,805,834)

34,000
70,000
16,547
14,448
39,843
182,687
1,705,930

(4,841)
70,000
4,889
14,735
(19,543)
93,400
1,139,764

(120,000)
(120,000)
(266,000)
1,410,000
1,144,000

(119,152)
(119,152)
440,778
1,988,781
2,429,559

(180,753)
(180,753)
729,413
1,259,368
1,988,781

848
848
706,778
578,781
1,285,559

61,601
61,601
(288,635)
729,413
440,778

Original
Budget
2016

Actual
2016

$
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Note 34. Explanatory Statement (continued)
Major Estimate and Actual (2016) Variance Narratives
9)	Royalties for Regions Fund receipts below estimates by $1 million (79.6%) due to the discontinuation of the Royalties for Regions - Regional Buy Local Initiatives Stage 3.
10)

Supplies and services payments underspent by $1.13 million (31.5%) mainly due to the discontinuation of the Royalties for Regions - Regional Buy Local Initiatives Stage 3.

Major Actual (2016) and Comparative (2015) Variance Narratives
M)	Service appropriation receipts decreased by $1.08 million (8.4%) due to the discontinuation of funding for the Aboriginal Business program and a reduction in funding to the Business
Local program. In addition, the Corporation returned $0.3 million to the Consolidated Account as a result of payroll tax exemption.
N)

Royalties for Regions Fund receipts decreased by $0.41 million (61.4%) mainly due to the finalisation of the Royalties for Regions - Regional Buy Local Initiatives Stage 2.

O)

Supplies and services payments decreased by $0.59 million (19.5%) mainly due to the finalisation of the Royalties for Regions - Regional Buy Local Initiatives Stage 2.
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...

Other legal requirements
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) outcomes
The SBDC is committed to creating a community that is accessible and inclusive to help to minimise the impacts of disability. The agency’s DAIP covers the period 2012-16
and includes seven outcome areas, such that people with disability:
1. Have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, and any events organised by, the SBDC.
2. Have the same opportunities as other people to access the SBDC’s buildings and other facilities.
3. Receive information from the SBDC in a format that will enable them to access it as readily as other people.
4. Receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of the SBDC as other people.
5. Have the same opportunities as others to make complaints to the SBDC.
6. Have the same opportunities as others to participate in any public consultation by the SBDC.
7. Have the same opportunities as other people to obtain and maintain employment within the SBDC.
The SBDC will continue to meet reporting obligations under the Disability Services Act 1993, including annual progress reports to the Disability Services Commission.

Equal employment opportunity (EEO)
The SBDC continues to meet its obligations under section 145 (preparation and Implementation of management plans) of the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 by progressing
EEO initiatives outlined in the agency’s EEO Management Plan.
The three high-level outcomes relating to EEO are:
•

The SBDC values EEO and diversity and the work environment is free from sexual and racial harassment.

•

The workplace is free from employment practices that are biased or discriminate unlawfully against employees or potential employees.

•

Employment programs and practices recognise and include strategies to achieve workforce diversity.

Initiatives to monitor and improve the workplace culture through the development of internal values will continue to be the drivers to meet these high level
outcomes in EEO.
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...
Compliance with public sector standards and ethical codes
The SBDC has complied with section 31 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994 in the administration of the agency’s human resource management practices relating
to public sector standards and codes of ethics and conduct.
During 2015-16 the SBDC received no claims against the public sector standards and no reports of non-compliance with the WA Code of Ethics or the agency’s own
Code of Conduct.
The SBDC maintains this standard of compliance through the following measurements and initiatives:
•

Quality feedback is provided to applicants as part of all recruitment processes.

•

Training is provided to recruitment panel members by accredited providers underpinned by the provision of recruitment guidelines specific to the SBDC.

•

Information about Public Sector Standards are included on the SBDC website and covered at inductions.

•	Employees commencing and leaving the agency are surveyed on all aspects of their employment including questions relating to staff behaving in accordance with
the Code of Conduct.

Record-keeping plan
There is continual monitoring of the efficiency and effectiveness of the agency’s record-keeping systems, producing significant benefits for records management.
This included delivering a record-keeping training program to all new staff and contractors and maintaining detailed written policies and procedures. Additional training
and materials were available on request, tailored to meet specific needs if required. The effectiveness of training is regularly monitored to ensure it meets the needs of the
SBDC and State Records Office.
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...
Advertising expenditure
In accordance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, set out below are details of expenditure incurred during 2015-16 in relation to:
Market research organisations:
• Advantage Communications and Marketing
• Research Solutions
Media advertising organisations:
• West Australian Newspapers Limited
• Carat Australia Media Services
Polling organisations
Direct mail organisations
Total expenditure for 2015-16:

$69,267
$19,467
$49,800
$48,628
$12,605
$36,023
Nil
Nil
$117,895

Legislation impacting on activity
In the performance of its functions, the SBDC complies with the following legislation:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
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A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999 (Cth)
Auditor General Act 2006
Business Names Act 1962
Business Names (Commonwealth Powers) Act 2012
Business Names Registration Act 2011 (Cth)
Copyright Act 1968 (Cth)
Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements Act 1985
Corporations (Western Australia) Act 1990
Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913
Disability Services Act 1993
Electoral Act 1907
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Electronic Transaction Act 2011
Equal Opportunity Act 1984
Evidence Act 1906
Evidence Act 1995 (Cth)
Financial Management Act 2006
Freedom of Information Act 1992
Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986 (Cth)
Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth)
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth)
Industrial Relations Act 1979
Legal Deposit Act 2012
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
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Disclosures and legal compliance continued...
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
Pay-roll Tax Act 2002
Pay-roll Tax Assessment Act 2002
Privacy Act 1988 (Cth)
Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972
Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
Public Sector Management Act 1994
Small Business Development Corporation Act 1983
Spam Act 2003 (Cth)

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

State Records Act 2000
State Superannuation Act 2000
State Supply Commission Act 1991
State Trading Concerns Act 1916
Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 (Cth)
Taxation Administration Act 2003
Treasurer’s Instructions 804 and 805
Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981

Cth = Commonwealth Acts

Government policy requirements
Corruption prevention

Publications

The SBDC is committed to the highest level of integrity, ethics and equity.
Corruption prevention forms part of the agency’s overall risk management strategy
as an important element of internal control.

The SBDC produces a wide range of publications, in hard copy and electronic
format, including:

Staff and Board members are regularly briefed on a range of statutory and
administrative requirements relating to ethical conduct, including the requirement
to declare conflicts of interest. A comprehensive induction program, the inclusion
of policies on the SBDC intranet and regular internal communications also seek
to ensure staff are aware of and understand their responsibilities. In addition, the
majority of staff undertook training in accountable and ethical decision-making
during the reporting period.

•	
Annual reports: Each financial year, the annual report highlights the agency’s
business and financial activities. Electronic (PDF) copies of previous reports are
available on request.
•	
Media releases: Releases are sent to a range of media outlets and key
stakeholders on topical issues relating to the small business sector.
•

Promotional publications: Outlining the SBDC’s services.

•

I nformation leaflets and guides: Providing advice and support for small
business operators, they are available in hard copy or can be downloaded from
the SBDC website.

•	
E-news: The SBDC produces a monthly e-newsletter which provides relevant
business and SBDC updates. It is available free of charge and subscribers can
sign-up online.
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Significant issues impacting the agency (as reported in the 2016-17 Budget Papers)
•	The alternative dispute resolution (ADR) service aims to
resolve disputes involving small businesses in a timely,
non-legalistic and cost-effective manner. Through this
service, small business operators receive personalised,
practical assistance to better understand their rights and
responsibilities, clarify issues and explore options to resolve
the dispute, with access to subsidised mediation if required.
•	The Western Australian Business Migration program is a key
investment attraction initiative that is expected to deliver
over $1 billion in new capital into the State over the forward
estimates. Business migrants are a leading source of new
capital through investment in new or established local
businesses or Treasury bonds, and generate new employment
and export income. Under the program, the agency provides
state nominations for business migrants in a range of
business and investment visa categories and promotes WA
opportunities at international trade expos.
•	The Business Local service commenced in July 2015 and
delivers business advisory services on behalf of the agency.
The service, which replaced the Small Business Centre
program, has delivered strong returns to the WA economy
through the provision of tailored advice and guidance
to new business intenders and existing small business
operators. Delivered by a network of third party providers in
12 service areas across the State, Business Local is focussed
on supporting an increased level of higher quality business
start-ups, stronger business foundations, more profitable
businesses and greater employment opportunities.
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•	The SBDC continues to influence the development of small
business policies across all tiers of government by advocating
on behalf of individual small business operators, industry
cohorts and the sector as a whole. This includes contributing
to major policy and legislative reviews in order to foster a fair
and conducive operating environment for small businesses
in WA. The agency also continued to provide guidance to
state government agencies as part of the State’s Regulatory
Impact Assessment process and assisted the Reinvigorating
Regulatory Reform Plan of government.
•	The agency will launch the new Small Business Friendly
Local Governments initiative, developed jointly with the
Department of Local Government and Communities, in early
2016-17. The initiative seeks to improve economic growth
through assisting local governments’ to better understand,
engage with and support small businesses, and to recognise
those councils that are actively achieving this.
•	As part of the reform of the State’s on-demand transport
(taxi) industry, the agency is working with the Department
of Transport to develop and deliver a transition assistance
package to support taxi operators to innovate and remain
competitive in a less regulated trading environment.
The focus of this assistance is on supporting existing taxi
operators to adapt their business models through greater
use of innovation and digital technology, increased business
literacy and enhanced customer service, and will help
individual taxi operators to make well informed decisions
about their future business model or exit strategy.
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Appendix
Stakeholder representation
and collaboration
The SBDC is a strong advocate for the Western Australian
small business sector across a broad range of State and
Federal Government working groups collaborating on
key small business issues. Such representation provides a
coordinated policy response and ensures the interests of
Western Australian businesses are represented. The SBDC
worked with the:
•

Small Business Commissioners Group;

•	Australian Competition and Consumer Commission’s Small
Business and Franchising Consultative Committee;
•	Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western Australia
(CCIWA);
•

Regional Chambers of Commerce and Industry WA;

•

Curtin Centre for Entrepreneurship (C4E);

•	The Department of Environment Regulation’s
Environmental Regulation Stakeholder Reference Group;
•	The Department of Training and Workforce Development’s
Workplace Essentials SME Project Steering Committee;

•

The Department of Agriculture and Food

•	Australian Small Business and Family
Enterprise Ombudsman
•	Australian Securities and Investments
Commissions (ASIC); and
•	Small Enterprise Association of Australia
and New Zealand (SEAANZ).
The SBDC has also formed a number of strategic alliances
with other stakeholders in the development and delivery of
services, support and programs to the State’s small business
sector, including:
•

Tourism WA;

•	Migration Institute of Australia (Western Australian
branch);
•

Western Australian Chinese Chamber of Commerce;

•

Department of Immigration and Border Protection;

•	Department of Regional Development, Royalties for
Regions program
•

Many Rivers Microfinance;

•

WA Indigenous Tourism Operators Council;

•

Department of Training and Workforce Development;

•	The Department of Finance’s Regulatory Champions
Working Group;

•

Combined Small Business Alliance of Western Australia;

•

Regulatory Gatekeeping Unit, Department of Finance; and

•	The Department of Commerce’s Regional
Telecommunications Project Steering Committee

•

Tourism Council of Western Australia.

•	The Department of Finance’s Regulatory Impact
Assessment Working Group;
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